
 
 

EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PANEL 
 

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 2.00 PM ON TUESDAY, 23 FEBRUARY 2021 
due to covid-19, this meeting will be held remotely and will be 

livestreamed here 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/ucazjnsgpqzzt41vibn2zk9a/live 

(copy and paste the link in your browser) 

 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

 

3.  EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

 

4.  MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EMPLOYMENT AND 
SKILLS PANEL HELD ON 25 NOVEMBER 2020 

 (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

5.  CHAIR'S UPDATE 

 

6.  ECONOMIC RECOVERY AND RESPONSE 

 (Pages 9 - 16) 
 

7.  DEVOLVED PROGRAMMES UPDATE 

 (Pages 17 - 22) 
 

8.  L3 ENTITLEMENTS /LIFETIME SKILLS GUARANTEE 

 (Pages 23 - 26) 
 

9.  FE REFORM `SKILLS FOR JOBS` 
 (Pages 27 - 44) 
 

10.  LOCAL SKILLS REPORT 

 (Pages 45 - 48) 
 

11.  EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PLAN REFRESH 



 (Pages 49 - 104) 
 

12.  EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PROGRAMMES 

 (Pages 105 - 110) 
 

 
 

Signed: 

 
Managing Director 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 



 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  
EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PANEL 

HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 25 NOVEMBER 2020 AT HELD AS A REMOTE 
MEETING. 

 
 
Present: 
 
Rashik Parmar MBE (Chair) IBM 
Mark Cowgill Exa Networks 
Orlagh Hunt Yorkshire Building Society 
Liz Needleman BT 
Claire Paxman Paxman Coolers 
Amanda Stainton Portakabin 
Councillor Darren Byford Wakefield Council 
Councillor Patrick Mulligan North Yorkshire County Council 
Sam Alexander (Advisory 
Representative) 

Your Consortium Ltd 

Colin Booth (Advisory Representative) Leeds City College 
Nav Chohan (Advisory Representative) Leeds City Region Skills Network 
Mike Curtis (Advisory Representative) NHS Yorkshire & Humber 
Alex Miles (Advisory Representative) West Yorkshire Learning Providers 
Dr Peter O'Brien (Advisory 
Representative) 

Yorkshire Universities 

 
In attendance: 
  
Brian Archer West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Sophie Collins West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Catherine Lunn West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Sonya Midgley West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Alan Reiss West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Ian Smyth West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Mark Temple West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Janette Woodcock West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 
50. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence received from Councillor Susan Hinchcliffe, Simon 
Barratt, Martin Booth, Claire Paxman and Glynn Robinson. 
 
 

51. Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests 
 

1

Agenda Item 4



There were no items of disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

52. Exempt Information - Exclusion of the press and public 
 
There were no items on the agenda requiring the exclusion of the press and 
public. 
 
 

53. Minutes of the meeting of the Employment and Skills Panel held on 14 
September 2020 
 
Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2020 be 
agreed and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

54. Chair's update 
 
The chair welcomed Mark Roberts to the meeting, who observed as the 
deputy LEP Board Chair 
 
Green Skills Partnership 
Rashik chaired the Green Skills Partnership meeting because of discussions 
at Employment and Skills Panel. There is a huge opportunity in bringing new 
skills to the region. It was agreed to build the structure and move forward. The 
Panel was asked should we appoint a champion/representative from ESP 
Panel. The Chair suggested Clare Paxman, who was also at the Green Skills 
Partnership meeting.  It was noted there were no objections from Panel 
members. 
 
A Green jobs taskforce is to be launched to be chaired by Kwasi Kwarteng. 
attended by Gillian Keegan, Minister for Apprenticeships and will be looking at 
2 million skilled jobs to build back greener and achieve net zero carbon 
emissions by 2050. This will set the direction for new jobs and for the Green 
Skills Partnership to respond. 

Labour Market Analysis 

Peter O’Brien & Peter Glover have met to discuss data and have agreed to 
bring more universities together in West Yorkshire to bring more real time data 
and influence the data and stats delivered by Peter Glover. The question was 
asked how can universities continue to support the use of this data in the 
region?  It was agreed to convene another meeting with proposals. 
 
Institutes of Technology 

A second wave of funding is now available, so should have the ability to build 
technical skills moving forward.   
 
LEP Board Update 
Following a discussion at LEP Board on unconscious bias training, this is now 
being explored and a trial, specific to developing policy rather than 
unconscious bias training per se, is being undertaken to look at how Panel 
Chairs can be involved. 
 

2



 
55. Employment and Skills Programmes 

 
The Panel considered a report to update on the progress of delivery of LEP-
led employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region and how they 
have been adapted to support COVID-19.  The Panel was asked to note and 
to comment on the progress of delivery.  
 
The information in the report contained an update on Apprenticeships and 
Employment, Apprenticeship Levy Transfer Service, Schools Partnerships, 
Enterprise Advisor Network, Bradford Opportunity Area, Raising Aspirations, 
The Kirklees Careers Hub, The Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Careers Hub, Careers, Digital Bootcamp Pilot, Parental engagement 
resources, Delivery Agreement, Skills for Business / Skills for Growth 
Programmes 
 
In addition to the report the Panel was provided with a verbal update: 
 
Employment Hub which was repurposed when COVID-19 hit - there is a need 
to seek additional resource, as the service is working at full capacity.  The 
service supports those further from the labour market struggling to move into 
alternative options and those seeking employment, changing careers and at 
risk of unemployment.  Unemployment is expected to increase which will put 
additional pressure on the service which is reflected in the Economic Recovery 
Plan.  A paper will be submitted to the Combined Authority to include a 
proposal build on the current programme to develop short non-accredited 
courses which will enable people to consider new employment sectors and 
utilise transferable skills. 
 
Levy Transfer Service - in the next few weeks, an announcement on major 
commitments and pledges to the levy transfer service will be made.  The 
recent Chancellor’s announcement included an incentive for apprenticeships 
and traineeships which have been extended to February 2021.  It is hoped 
that businesses may be considering offering apprenticeships/traineeships 
work for summer 2021 start, and the levy transfer, which will fund 100% of the 
apprenticeship training and will work alongside any national incentives. 
 
School Partnerships are now settling into alternative virtual delivery of the 
main programme and Schools appreciate online tools and engaging with 
EC/EA. Schools feel that the creation of virtual work experience opportunities 
is a good way of teaching with a break from the usual methods of delivery in 
the current climate. 
 
It is hoped that there will be announcements soon on award of applications to 
the Digital Bootcamp programme.  Included in the Chancellor’s statement was 
announcements of further bootcamps from Spring 2021.  The Prime Ministers 
summer announcements looked at targeted sectors, so this next one may be 
construction. 
 
Unemployment Support – There has been a lot of national announcements 
about support via DWP including more work coaches and a national Restart 
programme that will be commissioned in the new year.  We are working with 

3



DWP to ensure services are complimentary. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(ii) That the comments of the Panel on progress of delivery of employment 

and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region be noted. 
 

(iii) That an update be provided to the February 2021panel on progress of 
the proposal to the Combined Authority seeking funding to support 
skills and unemployment priorities within the economic Recovery Plan. 
 

(iv) That an update on discussions with Headteachers Group re support 
and activities around opportunities for developing softer/work ready 
skills activity be brought to the next Employment and Skills Panel 
meeting in February 2021. 
 

 
56. Devolution - Adult Education Budget and Local Digital Skills Partnership 

 
The Panel considered a report to update on activity of the Local Digital Skills 
Partnership (LSDP) and formation of Board and associated governance and 
was asked to provide feedback on how best to engage with them to ensure 
alignment of priorities. 
 
The contents of the report also updated the Panel on progress with devolved 
Adult Education Budget (AEB) preparation and the next steps. 
 
In the Digital Strategy published in March 2017, the Government set out its 
commitment to improving the digital skills capabilities of individuals and 
organisations across England. 
 
The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is the seventh area to secure funding 
for an LDSP through its ambitious devolution plans.  The partnership will bring 
together the region’s leading employers, SMEs. Digital entrepreneurs, 
representatives from the Combined Authority and LEP, DCMS, as well as 
universities, colleges, and other training providers. 
 
The Panel was provided with a verbal update on the successful launch on  
15 October with almost 100 in attendance with keynote introductions from 
Councillor Susan Hinchcliffe and Caroline Dinenage, Minister for Digital and 
Culture. 
 
The LDSP Board has been formed and are Looking at SME digital inclusivity, 
social digital inclusivity, building workforce for future. The first meeting was 
held on 23 November 2020 and looked at the context and how digital skills 
supports the West Yorkshire Combined Authority agenda – economic 
recovery, Employment and Skills inclusive growth. 
 
A number of potential partners have now reached out since the launch events 
and national programmes.  Partnerships are essential to LDSP success. The 

4



Panel was asked if they were aware of skills providers with an interest in 
supporting the LDSP and to contact Mark Temple directly, particularly key 
priorities for the region and how to deliver meaningful impact for 
disadvantaged communities and to keep up the profile of the LDSP. 
 
 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(ii) That feedback from the Panel on how best to engage with the Digital 

Skills Partnership to ensure alignment of priorities was provided. 
 

(iii) Details on Lloyds and Hubbub schemes for laptops / smartphones in 
the region to be brought to the Employment and Skills Panel meeting in 
February 2021 
 

 
57. Skills Commission 

 
The Panel considered a report to update on the Skills Commission final report 
and its blueprint and recommendations.  
 
As previously reported over the last 18 months the Skills Commission has 
been undertaking a review in order to create a blueprint for a future-ready 
post-16 skills system with a focus on devolution.  The Commission is made up 
from leading thinkers from business, education, trade unions and thinks tanks 
and is Chaired by Councillor Hinchcliffe.  The focus on devolution has 
distinguished this Commission’s work from the other national commissions 
and reviews. 
 
There are ongoing proactive discussions between officers at the Combined 
Authority and senior government officials. Mostly DfE & ESFA and discussions  
at M9 cx and mayors across country. There has been an opportunity to 
present as a solution to help government with thinking around the Further 
Education white paper and there are opportunities for mayors to talk with a 
single voice on skills. 
 

The Combined Authority asked for officers to work up a proposal around one 
recommendation in particular – 5% skills funding from public infrastructure 
projects. Being looked at and developed – brought to panel when worked 
through. 
 
The Panel discussed and provided feedback on the final Skills Commission 
blueprint and recommendations. 
 

Resolved: 
 
(i) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(ii) That the comments of the Panel on the final skills Commission blueprint 

5



and recommendations be noted. 
 

 
58. Key Policy Reports 

 
The Panel was provided with a report for information to highlight 
organisations, including leading think-tanks to keep Panel members informed  
 
about leading thinking on employment and skills issues, particularly the policy 
response to the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
In addition to the report a verbal update was provided to focus on the national 
policy reforms which included DfE / MCA policy discussions and Institutes of 
Technology (IoTs) 
 
It was noted that the colleges have been clear that the model and current 
circumstances mean they do not intend to apply and feel able to provide more 
appropriate response.  They are, however, prepared to add to the discussion. 
 
 

59. Employment and Skills Policy Update 
 
The Panel considered a report to update on national policy changes in relation 
to Employment and Skills and was asked to comment on the implications for a 
local approach of the national policy changes including Wave 2 Institutes of 
Technology (IoT).  
 
IoTs are a key government policy to address the gap in higher technical 
education in STEM providing £120 million for eight institutions only for cap 
funding and West Yorkshire are eligible, the deadline fir the application is 
December. 
 
The Panel was asked to agree the forward workplan for the Employment and 
Skills Plan and note the next steps for the local skills plan, a requirement of 
the Panel’s Skills Advisory Panel duties. 
 
In addition to the report a verbal update was provided to the Panel.   
 
The panel agreed to pause the current timescales for the plan refresh in light 
of significant national policy changes including the Further Education reform 
white paper.  A draft plan will be submitted in February 2021. The Business 
Innovation and Growth panel are currently developing a business productivity 
and resilience plan and innovation framework. There is a proposal to have a 
joint workshop with BIG and ESP in January ahead of finalising the plan 
coming to ESP for approval in February and an update on the Local Skills 
Plan and the requirement of being a skills advisory panel. 
 
DfE have set out a standardised approach and the Local Skills Plan will report 
for the national skills and productivity board influencing future policy design. 
 
Officers are more engaged with Government officials, other MCAs and LGA to 
discuss emerging policy and it has been useful to be at the table. 

6



 
On 29 September 2020, the Prime Minister’s Exeter College Speech made 
announcements about national skills policy that follow from the 2019 
Conservative election manifesto.  This was followed by a statement from the 
Secretary of State for Education on 1 October 2020 that headlined further 
national policy reforms, with a focus on technical skills and the creation of a 
£2.5 billion National Skills Fund.  
 

 
The National Skills Fund replaces the National Retraining Fund.  Lifetime skills 

guarantee aims to enable lifelong learning to fund first L3 for adults and some 

loan flexibility to undertake retraining at any point in career and use loans for 

higher and tech education, issues that were raised by FRSC. L3 

Provision is also delivered through devolved AEB. Whilst DfE has made clear 

until this point that National Skills Fund will not be devolved, even though 

some overlap in funding, there is some opportunity in West Yorkshire to think 

about how we can enhance local provision.  The Department for Education 

delayed publishing the list of quals available and funded, but there are 

concerns about gaps included by sector (quals funded are deemed to be 

economically viable) in being economically viable will there be a gender bias. 

Peter O’Brien has met with Vice Chancellors and Chief Executives and Gillian 

Hillier Government Head of Place for Yorkshire and Humber in DfE.  

Resolved: 

(i) That the contents of the report be noted. 

(ii) That the feedback and comments of the Panel on the implications for 
Leeds City Region of the national policy changes including IoTs be 
noted. 

(iii) That the progress and next steps of the Employment and Skills Plan 
and the Local Skills Plan be noted. 

(iv) That the Local Skills Plan be brought to the Employment and Skills 
Panel Meeting in February 2021. 

 
60. Good Work 

 
The Panel considered a report on possible options encouraging the creation of 
good work and the adoption of better employment behaviours and practices 
across all sectors of the regional economy and was provided with a verbal 
update. 
 
Following a verbal update and overview of the Good Work Standard the Panel 
was asked to share views on the possible options for the creation of good 
work and the adoption of better employment behaviours and practices across 
all sectors of the regional economy covered in the presentation.  
 
The Panel was asked if they had any preferences from the three options 
presented and any possible risks of implementing a charter / standard to 

7



guard against a low take up or low.   
 
The Panel was also asked: 
 

 What are the critical factors for a successful charter, eg. resources, 
promotion/visibility, building a ‘movement’ etc and What are the critical 
factors for a successful charter, e.g. resources, promotion/visibility, 
building a ‘movement’ etc 
 

 

 How ‘portable’ is the GM model – ie how well does it read across to a 
West Yorkshire context?  

 

 To what extent does it reflect LCR Employment and Skills ambitions? 
 
Resolved: 
 
(i) That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(ii) That the three options set out in option 2 be considered. 

 
(iii) That the Panel provide advice to the LEP Board, 
 

8



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Economic Recovery and Response 

Director: 
Brian Archer, Director, Economic Services 
Alan Reiss, Director, Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Catherine Lunn, Sonya Midgley 

 

 
1. Purpose of this report  
 
1.1 To provide the Panel with an update on developments around economic 

recovery and EU Exit, including on the West Yorkshire Economic Recovery 
Plan, the delivery and development of products and services in response, and 
the additional £13.5 million prioritised by the Combined Authority for 
employment and skills. 

1.2 To update the Panel on the progress on devolved budgets and programmes. 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1 Since the last meeting of the Panel, West Yorkshire have seen the end of a 

period of national restrictions in November, been placed into Tier 3 (Very High) 
restrictions over the December and New Year period and entered Tier 4 (Stay 
at Home) on 6 January 2021 as part of a national lockdown that includes the 
closure of school buildings to most students. Tier 4 restrictions include 
additional mandatory business closures, including of non-essential retail and 
leisure and sports facilities. 
 

2.2 Although it is still highly uncertain what will happen to the economy over the   
coming months, our response work and recovery planning to date has 
responded to evidence and intelligence on the key issues: 

 Support to recently unemployed to retrain in growth areas 

 Support to prevent long-term unemployment through signposting and 
working with employers to job match 

 Provision for recent graduates to enter the workforce in areas of growth, 
and where short sharp training can support entry into employment 

9

Agenda Item 6



 Provision of local careers information to raise awareness and help 
individuals fulfil their personal ambitions. 

 
Economic Update 

2.3 Little data is yet available to understand the period following the end of 
November’s lockdown, or the enhanced restrictions currently in place.  

 
2.4 Data on footfall in West Yorkshire’s town and city centres does not suggest a 

sharp upturn in activity in the run up to Christmas. Whilst there was some 
recovery in activity after November, this was relatively slight and activity 
throughout December remained below that in late October in many places. 

 
2.5 Looking back slightly further, national data from the Office for National 

Statistics shows an increase in the use of the furlough scheme nationally 
during November’s restrictions. In the fortnight to 29 November, 16% of all 
jobs were furloughed nationally. This was half the spring peak, but double the 
rate seen in October. This was much higher in the arts & entertainment sector 
(53% of jobs were furloughed) and accommodation & food (42% on furlough).   

 
2.6 Since the start of the pandemic, the number of people claiming out of work 

benefits in West Yorkshire has increased by 86% (+49,620), largely driven by 
significant increases in April and May. The picture over the past six months 
has been more static. Between November and December, the claimant count 
for West Yorkshire increased by 725 (0.7%), compared to national increase of 
0.4% (8,735). National figures also indicate that redundancies are running at a 
record high (370,000 in the three months to October) but this is not yet feeding 
through into the claimant count. This may change in the coming months.  

 
EU Exit and Qualifications 

2.7 The EU exit deal contains provision for a framework for the mutual recognition      
of professional qualifications – but this is forward looking and no new 
qualifications will be recognised on day one. A similar provision is included in 
the EU’s FTA with Canada, however to date no qualifications have yet been 
recognised under the comparable framework. There is a guarantee however 
for existing recognition to citizens already living   in the EU (or UK) prior to the 
end of the transition.  

 

2.8 What this means in practice is that UK citizens will need to comply with               
professional qualifications in each and every EU state they might want to work 
in – which can vary between states – and may require the completion of 
additional qualifications, examinations or demonstrate work experience. This is 
likely to be a particular issue in professional services exporting, where the UK 
already has a significant trade surplus in areas such as accounting, auditing, 
legal and finance.  
 

2.9 Of course, the same potential barriers will also now apply to EU nationals (and 
continue to apply to Third party nationals) looking to work in the UK.  
 

10



2.10 Aside from any other immigration requirements that might be applied 
(including min. salary thresholds, guaranteed job offer), EU nationals in 
regulated professions – including education, healthcare, professional services, 
gas engineers and security personnel – will also need to contact the relevant 
UK regulator about getting their qualification recognised – which also may 
require them to undertake additional qualifications, examinations or 
demonstrate work experience.  
 

Employment and Skills support 
 

2.11 The £2.9 billion Restart scheme was announced at the Spending Review on   
25 November 2020, as part of the Plan for Jobs. The scheme will accept     
referrals for a period of three years and expects to support over a million 
individuals. Restart will give Universal Credit claimants who have been out of 
work for at least twelve months enhanced support to find jobs in their local 
area; participants will received tailored support for twelve months. 

 
2.15 Restart will be delivered across twelve Contract Package Areas (CPAs) across  

England and Wales. CPA2b includes West Yorkshire, South Yorkshire, 
Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire. Providers on Tier 1 of DWP’s refreshed 
Commercial Agreement for Employment and Health Related Services 
framework (CAEHRS) will be invited to bid. Bidders will need to demonstrate 
how they will tailor their offer to the local needs of the CPA and must 
complement existing support mechanisms.  

 
2.16 To ensure that delivery meets local needs, each CPA was invited to submit a   

question which was specifically designed to draw out the relevant local 
challenges and opportunities that the winning provider may face. DWP has 
also invited each CPA to identify two assessors to review and score bidders’ 
responses to this question. This will form part of DWP’s overall bid evaluation 
approach. DWP expects contracts to be awarded in Spring 2021, with go live 
in Summer 2021. Officers from West Yorkshire Combined Authority are 
working closely with colleagues in other areas of the CPA and will be involved 
in the assessment process led by DWP in March. 
 

2.18 On 27 January 2021, a cash support incentive was launched to support 
employers to take on trainees. Businesses offering new traineeship 
opportunities will receive a £1,000 bonus for each trainee taken on. 
Placements must be a minimum of 70 hours. An employer can receive the 
incentive on a maximum of 90 trainees, with a maximum of ten trainees in 
each of the nine regions of England. 

 
2.19 The incentive is available until 31 July 2021 and can be claimed on 

placements completed since 1 September 2020. The incentive is part of the 
Chancellor’s Plan for Jobs and recent commitment to an additional £111 
million investment to expand the traineeships programme. 
 

2.20 Traineeship programmes previously had a minimum duration of six months but 
can now last anywhere between six weeks and 12 months. Young people with 
qualifications up to level 3 can take part, with the previous limit being level 2. 

11



 
2.21 The £2bn ‘kickstart scheme’ to create 350,000 six-month work placements for  

16-24 year-olds announced in the summer continues to be developed by DWP 
with many employers keen to engage. Our local authorities are all anticipating 
providing the Gateway role supporting businesses with the programme, with 
the Combined Authority/LEP providing a communications campaign to raise 
awareness and interest with signposting to our local authorities. Employers 
may also apply directly for a grant. 
 

2.22 The West Yorkshire councils and the Combined Authority are working closely 
with Jobcentre Plus on the Youth Guarantee offer, which will include local co-
ordination of support for young people through a Youth Hub. 

 
Economic Recovery 

2.23 As has been reported previously, the longer-term planning for recovery is 
being overseen by a West Yorkshire Economic Recovery Board, which is a 
working group of the Combined Authority and brings together the five West 
Yorkshire Leaders and LEP Chair with partners from the private sector, trade 
unions, public bodies and the third sector, to develop robust plans for the 
region’s economic recovery and to help build an inclusive and sustainable 
economy for the future. 
 

2.24 A first version of the Economic Recovery Plan was produced with input from a 
wide range of stakeholders including the Panels of the LEP, and endorsed by 
the Combined Authority on 4 September. A review of the Plan is underway to 
reflect the progression of the crisis since September and the resulting impacts, 
which will be brought forward for endorsement in due course. 

 
2.25 Work continues on implementing elements of the recovery plan within existing 

City Region resources. This follows from the November Spending Review 
announcements which did not detail any Government funding to support the 
delivery of regional and local economic recovery plans. A submission again 
drawing attention to the key aspects of the Economic Recovery Plan (and 
Transport Recovery Plan) that cannot be progressed within current resources 
has been made to inform the Budget currently scheduled for 3 March 2021. 

 
2.26 On 27 November, the Combined Authority approved £13.5 million gainshare to 

support immediate priority recovery programmes around skills and retraining 
to support people to re-enter the workforce quickly. The repurposed [re]boot 
and Employment Hub programmes will be extended to be an all-age offer that 
drives demand through locally branded support services including signposting 
where appropriate to national and local provision.   

 
2.27 As per previous updates, the existing part-ESF funded Employment Hub 

programme delivered by the Combined Authority along with council partners, 
has been swiftly adapted to offer all age support to those seeking employment 
or a career change.  Support includes signposting to specialist support 
services, additional training and matching jobseekers to opportunities across 
the region and expand its support for businesses. More information and online 
enquiry forms can be found for businesses at Employment Hub and 

12

https://www.the-lep.com/business-support/skills-and-training/employment-hub/


jobseekers at Careers Support - FutureGoals. By the end of January 2021, we 
had received 602 individual referrals and 114 business enquiries to the 
repurposed Employment Hub, with 24% requesting recruitment support, 52% 
information on KickStart and 13% seeking support to hire an apprentice. 

 
2.28 As previously reported, the Combined Authority’s adult re-training training 

programme, [re]boot, is targeting individuals currently furloughed or looking for 
opportunities to re-train. These are aligned to areas with greatest growth 
opportunities and new courses are being developed with employer 
involvement. Since launch, the programme has supported over 450 people. 
Recent graduates, school leavers and people on furlough are being targeted 
for re-training through 24 online courses. Social media campaigns have 
reached 142,556 people since May. https://futuregoals.co.uk/lep-skills-
support-during-lockdown/ 

 
2.29 Through support of part of a £13.5 million Strategic Investment Funding  

COVID-19 employment and skills package from the Combined Authority and 
bidding to other external funding programmes the Combined Authorities adult 
training offer will be expanded and extended (see Appendix A)  

  
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications 

3.1 Clean Growth will continue to be supported through the products delivered in 
response to COVID-19 and is at the heart of the Economic Recovery Plan as 
an overarching goal.  

 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 

4.1 As part of the West Yorkshire Inclusive Growth framework, any businesses 
that receive grants from the above products would be required to contribute to 
Inclusive Growth actions and outcomes via their funding agreements. 

 
4.2 Inclusive Growth is embedded as an overarching goal in the Economic 

Recovery Plan. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 Delivery of some of the proposed products will require contractual approvals 

from Government, and/or new funding allocations that would result in new 
contractual obligations for the Combined Authority.  

 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 Delivery of the products included in the Economic Recovery Plan may require 

changes to current staff roles and/or additional staff to be recruited, which will 
be considered through the detailed development of individual proposals.  

13

https://futuregoals.co.uk/careers-support/
https://futuregoals.co.uk/lep-skills-support-during-lockdown/
https://futuregoals.co.uk/lep-skills-support-during-lockdown/


 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 None 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1  That the Panel notes the latest update around the economic impacts of 

COVID-19 and progress on the delivery and development of the response to 
the crisis, including on the economic recovery plan. 

 
10. Background Documents 
 
10.1 There are no background documents referenced in this report.  

 
11. Appendices 
 
11.1 Appendix A:  Adult Training Offer 
 

Appendix B: COVID-19 Fortnightly Insights Report, 5 February 2021 
 https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5895/fortnightly-economic-transport-

report-2021-02-05.pdf 

14

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5895/fortnightly-economic-transport-report-2021-02-05.pdf
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5895/fortnightly-economic-transport-report-2021-02-05.pdf


Item 6 Appendix 1 

Adult Training 

The Combined Authority Adult Training offer is currently supported financially 
through a number of funding streams which are short term or coming to an end: 

 Designed to upskill individuals and highlight key/growth sectors of digital, 
construction, engineering and creative, the current ESF [re]boot adult skills 
programme ends in December 2021 

 Digital Bootcamps test delivery models in a small, directed way to develop 
innovative and highly responsive courses that link directly to local digital and 
technical skills needs. Provision is not bound by existing accreditation and has 
the flexibility to meet needs of employers directly, building on the success of 
existing programmes and relationships.  The current £1.4m DfE funded 
programme is due to end March 2021 with a potential extension until June. 

 
In order to build upon the success of these programmes and respond to skills 
priorities within the economic recovery plan, we have opportunities to extend and 
enhance these programmes in the following way: 

 Second wave tender for DfE Bootcamps was released in early January with a 
closing date of 12 February, to which the Combined Authority have submitted 
a proposal. The tender offered a £38m national programme spilt into nine 
regions, including Yorkshire & Humber. The tender encouraged submissions 
with a broader the geographical reach. With input from York & North 
Yorkshire, Humber and Sheffield LEPs we have submitted a Lot 2 Digital & 
Technical Bootcamps bid with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority/LEP as 
overall project manager. 

 As reported in the main report, Gainshare funding has been approved to 
extend the original [re]boot programme. 

 
In order to manage these programmes and ensure that the training offer is 
responsive to need, a procurement framework approach is being taken to delivery 
activity and we are looking for Lead Suppliers within each LEP area to deliver 
training based upon regional skills needs. This DfE lot is included in our tender 
alongside the gainshare lots. 
 
Lot 1 – DfE Digital & Technical Bootcamps (Yorkshire & Humber)  
Funded by the DfE and split into four sub-lots to cover each of the participating LEP 
areas.  
 
Gainshare lots (West Yorkshire only) 

 Digital Skills 

 Infrastructure/Construction, Engineering/Manufacturing and Green 
Technology 

 Healthcare (Health & Social Care) 

 In-work, transition, redundancy prevention, retraining & upskilling 

 Graduate Programme 
 

15

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Item 6 Appendix 1 

Digital Skills 

Similar model to [re]boot but with emphasis on employer input. The gold standard for 
all gainshare funds will include employer input which may include content design (fit 
for purpose), co-delivery (relevance and clear line of site to jobs) and learner 
networking opportunities with employers as potential employees. Digital roles 
currently identified include software development, code writing, data analytics, cyber 
security and cloud- based technologies. 
 
Infrastructure, Engineering & Green Technologies 

A ‘cover all bases’ approach to procure expertise that can adapt to emerging skills 
needs to ensure we have the skills to maximise opportunities for any national funding 
around infrastructure projects to support delivery. Training to support the engineering 
sector in efforts to shorten the supply chain. Green technology skills anticipated to be 
around retrofit in first instance. 
 
Healthcare (Social care) 

Lots of healthcare vacancies but the largest numbers within social care. Accredited 
and employer/sector endorsed training to fill skills gaps. Identifying individuals with 
the values of care who may be in sectors in decline. Robust CIAG to offer a clear 
pathway to other roles in care. 
 
In-work, transition, redundancy prevention 

Focussed on emotional intelligence, resilience, and adapting to change to prepare 
employees for new opportunities.   
  
Graduate programme 

To tackle under-employed, underutilised graduates perhaps working in hospitality, 
retail or the gig economy. Consortium of HE providers. Output measures may 
include shortening of time between graduation and employment, movement into 
key/growth sectors, job retention, and the narrowing of the progression gap between 
BAME and non-BAME graduates. 
 
The procurement will commence in February 2021. 
 
With gainshare funding we can move away from the rigid adherence to qualifications 
and the arguably outdated RQF Framework and look to develop employer endorsed 
training. Employer endorsed training will give learners a powerful passport towards 
progression and job outcomes. Some programmes may contain an accredited 
element if appropriate, e.g., recognised healthcare qualifications. 
  
Each lot is written to avoid duplication or displacement of other training programmes 
i.e., AEB and lead suppliers will need to identify how they will feed into other 
complementary support programmes like the Employment Hubs and the National 
Careers Service  
 
Underpinning all lots will be our commitment to support those marginalised in the 
workplace including BAME, people who identify as having a disability, women in 
technical, engineering and construction roles. 

16



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Adult Education Budget Update 

Director: 
Brian Archer, Director Economic Services 
Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Craig Moffatt, AEB Manager and Mark Temple, LDSP Manager 

 

1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To update the Panel on progress with devolved Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

preparation and next steps. 
 
1.2 To update the Panel on LDSP programme and next steps 
 
2. Information 
 

Adult Education Budget (AEB) 
 

2.1 On the 29 January Parliament approved the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority (Election of Mayor and Functions) Order (2021, No 112) and on the 
30 January it came into law. So we are now a Mayoral Combined Authority 
that also has some immediate additional functions, plus more when the Mayor 
is elected.  Those immediate functions are about skills and devolution of the 
adult education budget (AEB). 

2.2 On 3 February the Combined Authority received a Funding Letter from 
Department for Education (DfE) outlining the devolved funding allocation for 
West Yorkshire.  
 

2.3     The project implementation of AEB is progressing well with a significant 
programme of work underway to enable delivery of AEB from the start of the 
2021/22 academic year:  All project milestones are on track and includes:  

 AEB Strategy developed and public consultation held 

 Supplier event successful with over 130 ITP’s, College and LA’s 
attending 

 AEB governance model developed and approved by Combined Authority  

 IT system procured and due to be in place early 2021 

 First round of AEB commissioning complete and second round live end 
of January 2021 

17

Agenda Item 7



 Planning underway for permanent staff resources to deliver AEB 

 Funding rules and contracts all complete and ready for final approval 
 
2.4      In line with the approved strategy, we have met and consulted with all local 

authorities to gain input into the gaps in provision, within their locality. 
However, they have all raised concerns that the current pandemic is restricting 
them from providing the latest information on gaps in provision. This is 
because priorities are changing and unemployment is increasing, the sectors 
of need are changing, and it is difficult to establish what is required.  This is 
being factored into the second round of commissioning. 

 
2.5 Procurement for Lots 1 and 2 for those providers who had been approved onto 

the Dynamic Purchasing System went live on 29 January and will close at 
10.00 am on 1 March 2021. 

 
2.6 During February meetings are being held with grant providers, eight FE 

colleges, five local authorities and eight Leeds City Region wide providers 
around indicative allocations and development of individual delivery plans.   

 
2.7 The governments Lifetime Skills Guarantee provides for a fully funded first 

level 3 qualification for anyone aged 24+ (see also agenda item 8).  Funding 
for this programme across West Yorkshire will be delegated to the Combined 
Authority and will be complementary to the AEB programme. 

 
         AEB Governance 
 
2.8     The governance structure was approved in November 2020 and will ensure that 

decision making is member-led, robust, transparent and mitigates any potential 
conflicts of interest, particularly during the implementation phase which sets the 
path for delivery. This will be balanced with efficiency within the delivery phase 
for ‘business as usual’ decision making, allowing us to achieve our strategic aim 
of increasing the responsiveness of the funds.  These principles underpin the 
proposals as set out at 2.4 and developed in consultation with local authority 
partners. 

 
AEB and FE White Paper: Skills for Jobs 

 
2.9 The DfE White paper: Skills for Jobs as reported in item 9 does not suggest any 

direct impact on devolved AEB arrangements.  
 
2.10 The paper does reflect that ‘… Local Skills Improvement Plans will build on the 

work that Mayoral Combined Authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships 
have done through their establishment of Skills Advisory Panels. Local Skills 
Improvement Plans will be informed by, and in turn inform, national skills 
priorities as highlighted by the new Skills and Productivity Board. However, we 
do not expect them to affect the important role that some providers with national 
reach play in supporting our national skills priorities. Mayoral Combined 
Authorities play a vital role across their local skills system and most 
already have responsibility for delivering certain adult education 
functions and will continue to do so. Mayoral Combined Authorities will be 

18



consulted in the development of these plans’, which suggests that devolution 
arrangements for AEB will continue.  

 
2.11 However certain statements or proposals in the paper, due to their 

generalisation need clarification as to impact and position of devolved AEB 
funding, delivery and responsibilities.  Examples include ‘…reforming funding 
and accountability of providers…’ and ‘…new powers for the Secretary of 
State for Education, so the government can intervene quickly and decisively in 
cases where there are persistent problems that cannot otherwise be 
addressed, either where colleges are not delivering effectively, or where local 
providers are consistently unable to deliver the skills priorities for that area’ 
which could be seen as contrary to responsibilities associated to devolved 
funding. 

 
2.12 From September, West Yorkshire Combined Authority will also have delegated 

responsibilities for the new L3 entitlement as part of the Lifetime Skills 
Guarantee, a separate paper covers this in greater detail. 

 
Local Digital Skills Partnership 

 
2.13 The Local Digital Skills Partnership Board has now been formed with 

representation from local and national organisations such as C4, Asda, 
Vanquis Bank, PwC, Good Things Foundation, AND Digital, Exco and BJSS, 
creating a broad church representing all aspects of the digital skills agenda.  
See link to recent press release re the launch of Board:- 

              Combined Authority works with regional partners to boost digital skills to support economic 
recovery - Combined Authority | Unlocking potential, accelerating growth (westyorks-
ca.gov.uk) 

 
2.14 The Board will continue to meet bi-monthly, with the formation of sub-groups 

to agree bespoke actions aligned to agreed priorities. 
 
2.15 The Board met on 18th January.  This session was focused on agreeing 

priorities for the Local Digital Skills Partnership through 2021 and beyond and 
how it supports the wider Combined Authorities strategies. Through a 
combination of insight and anecdotal evidence and group discussion the 
following priorities were agreed: 

 Preventing Digital Exclusion- the growth/provision of digital skills and 
supporting the resolution of data poverty and the ongoing challenge of 
accessibility and connectivity. 

 SME and Charity Digital Growth- The growth of Essential Digital Skills 
and increasing resilience and sustainability of organisation and 
supporting the growth of skills to support the digital sector. 

 Supporting Educators and Students to grow digital skill- ensuring 
greater alignment between business and education to support growth in 
skills and promoting career ambitions. 

 Development of a regional skills prospectus and mapping of funding 
opportunities- understanding current provision and current and future 
needs, in addition to ensuring provision is easy to access for all 
residents of the region.  

19

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/all-news-and-blogs/combined-authority-works-with-regional-partners-to-boost-digital-skills-to-support-economic-recovery/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/all-news-and-blogs/combined-authority-works-with-regional-partners-to-boost-digital-skills-to-support-economic-recovery/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/all-news-and-blogs/combined-authority-works-with-regional-partners-to-boost-digital-skills-to-support-economic-recovery/


          
2.16  The next steps are to create 4 workstreams who will begin to address these 

priorities and build a program of digital skills support and interventions to grow 
skills adoption. To ensure impact can be evidenced, evaluation against 
defined success factors will be key and to build a library of case studies 
throughout to showcase the impact of digital skills for all those who benefit 
from skills provision, to enhance future engagement. The panel are asked to 
provide feedback and approval on these priorities. In addition we are exploring 
opportunities to partner with Department for Work and Pensions to drive 
additional activity to support upskill/reskill for those engaged with Job centre 
plus sites. 

 
2.17 Social Inclusivity/Provision of kit; the provision of hardware and data to those 

most vulnerable has been very high profile because of the pandemic (Laptops 
for Kids). Work is ongoing with Local Authorities and Headteachers to 
understand the challenge with vulnerable children, with further exploratory 
surveys in 16+ education provision and to identify solutions to support greater 
inclusive learning opportunities. Working with local organisations and NHS to 
extend  this program to the wider population and preventing an increase to the 
digital divide across all ages of the population. 
 

2.18 A recent Department for Education call for evidence on level 2 digital skills 
closed on 14 February, the proposal is to remove funding for Level 2 digital 
skills. This will have an impact on the Adult Education Budget provision, but 
more broadly will have an impact on the support and accessibility of Level 2 
digital skills to the population within West Yorkshire. The Local Digital Skills 
Partnership Board have been made aware encouraged to respond as 
individual organisations.  

  
2.19 SME digital inclusion and support programs have progressed at pace in recent 

times in the region with a focus on provision of skills and support to those 
small and micro businesses most exposed to closure due to lack of digital 
skills. The following have been made available in our region and have had the 
largest take up relative to other areas. 

 A bespoke program run by Clockwork City and funded by Lloyds Bank 
are supporting a cohort of 17 small BAME/Women led businesses 
starting 18th January.  

 In November Amazon Small Business Accelerator (ASBA)and Digital 
Boost ere both launched in the region and have seen significant 
engagement with 600+ SMEs registering with ASBA and 70+ SMEs 
registering with Digital Boost.  

 Program of 5 webinars to support SMEs re Essential Digital Skills and 
enhance their foundation digital skills. The program will be provided by 
Google and is being run in conjunction with other regional DSP’s 
beginning on 5th March. This will be followed by a program of further 
webinars to enhance individuals’ digital skills and support re-
employment, beginning in Q2 2021. 

 Funding has been secured to host a Virtual Tech festival during late 
May/early June. The festival will be organised by Teen tech who will 
host a range of sessions to enhance 8-19 years old understanding of 

20



the tech sector and the importance of digital skills. Aspiration to engage 
1000 students. 

 
 

3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
 3.1 AEB: There are no climate emergency implications directly arising from this 
          report.  
 
3.2     LDSP: The tangible benefits of growing digital skills and therefore changing  
          working methods and patterns across SME’s will drive some small impacts for  

climate implications e.g., reducing the number and amount of journeys where 
technology can facilitate meetings. 

 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 AEB: There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this 

report. 
 
4.2      LDSP: The program to support home schooling through laptop provision for 

pupils, and the activity to build sustainable programs across the region to 
reduce the digital divide and greater wider digital inclusion. This will remain a 
key priority to reduce the gap for those most disadvantaged and support their 
return to work. 

 
4.3 LDSP:  increasing digitals skills amongst individuals will enable more people 

to access services to participate in society such as paying a bill, job search as 
well as progression to the workplace 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 Public consultation took place in developing the AEB Strategy in summer 2020  
 AEB Strategy & consultation 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Panel is asked to note the progress to date and next steps in preparation 

for AEB devolution. 

21

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/growing-the-economy/business-and-skills/adult-education-budget/


 
9.2 The Panel is asked to note the progress to date and next steps for LDSP 

programme. 
 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 

None.  
 

22



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Level 3 Entitlements 

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Sonya Midgley, Policy Manager 

 

 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To update the Panel on Level 3 (L3) entitlements and to seek the Panel’s view 

on further qualifications that should be considered for inclusion on the 
published DfE list. 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1 A new L3 entitlement that allows adults (aged 24+) to study a first full L3 

qualification for free was announced by the Prime Minister in November, as 
part of the ‘Lifetime Skills Guarantee’. This announcement has been confirmed 
in the recent FE White Paper. 

 
2.2 A list of 379 eligible qualifications has been developed against a methodology 

set out by DfE based on earning potential and existing labour market 
needs1. The funding can only be used for ESFA funded provision, and not 
employer led bootcamps. The intention is to remove funding approval from 
qualifications with low or no publicly funded enrolments. 

  
2.3 The list of funded qualifications will remain under review. Mayoral Combined 

Authorities (MCAs), Greater London Authority (GLA) and awarding bodies are 
able to submit additional courses to the list where they are able to provide 
evidence that they should be funded.   

  
2.4 Qualifications that will be funded are in the following subject areas:    

 Accounting and finance 

 Agriculture 

                                                           
1 A full list of courses to be funded at Level 3 is available at 

www.gov.uk/government/publications/qualifications-in-new-funded-offers 

23

Agenda Item 8

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/qualifications-in-new-funded-offers


 Building and construction 

 Business management 

 Child development and well-being 

 Engineering 

 Environmental conservation 

 Health and social care 

 Horticulture and forestry 

 ICT for users 

 ICT practitioners 

 Manufacturing technologies 

 Mathematics and statistics 

 Medicine and dentistry 

 Nursing and subjects and vocations allied to medicine 

 Public services 

 Science 

 Teaching and lecturing 

 Transportation operations and maintenance 

 Warehousing and distribution 
 

2.5 Funding to meet the entitlement will be delegated to MCAs / GLA for the 
academic year 2021/22. The allocations have not yet been communicated, but 
there is around £95m available nationally to fund the entitlement. 

   
West Yorkshire L3 take-up2 

2.6 An analysis of the list mapped to West Yorkshire provision shows that 62 of 
these qualifications had take-up in 2018/19 or 2019/20 academic years, with a 
total of 919 enrolments across the two years. The most popular were: 

Advanced Diploma in Accounting - Level 3 189 

Diploma for the Early Years Workforce (Early Years Educator) 127 

Diploma in Engineering Technology 108 

Diploma in Leadership and Management 101 

Diploma in Adult Care 72 

Certificate in Assessing Vocational Achievement 65 

Diploma in Counselling Skills 19 
 

2.7 39% (358) of West Yorkshire enrolments were delivered by out of area 
providers. Of the 61% (561) delivered by West Yorkshire providers, the West 
Yorkshire colleges delivered all but one of the enrolments.  

 

                                                           
2 All figures based on enrolments by learners aged 24+ resident in West Yorkshire and include the aims funded 
through various funding streams including loan-funded activity and activity with no public funding or loan 
funding. 

24



2.8 Twenty of the DfE qualifications with some local take-up had no West 
Yorkshire providers delivering them - these had 150 enrolments between 
them. 101 of these enrolments were for one qualification - Diploma in 
Leadership and Management. Further analysis and suggestions for additional 
L3 qualifications that could be proposed will be presented at the meeting. 

 
2.9  Additionally, over these two years there were around 5,200 enrolments for 

qualifications not on the DfE list but in the eligible sector subject areas. The 
biggest areas are construction, health and social care and teaching / lecturing. 
 
Eligibility Criteria for further qualification proposals 

2.10 The following criteria applies to funded L3 qualifications: 

 be regulated by Ofqual 

 be already approved for funding in the funding year 2020 to 2021 
through the ESFA funded adult education budget, advanced learner 
loans, or the European Social Fund (ESF) offer 

 be operationally available for all or part of the funding year 2021 to 2022 

 be at Level 3 

 be at least 60 guided learning hours (GLH) in size 

 support a student to enter into a specific job role, or directly into 
employment (this includes qualifications that can be delivered in a 
workplace setting and support upskilling or specialisation) 

 be in one of the sector subject areas listed above 

 not be in scope to have funding approval removed as a result of the 
review of qualifications with no or low publicly funded enrolments 

 not mainly serve as an introduction to further training or study 

 not be an Access to Higher Education diploma, because this offer 
focusses on directly entering and progressing through employment, 
rather than progressing to higher education 

 not be a Technical Qualification in T Levels 
 

2.11 In addition to the subject areas listed at 2.4, MCAs and awarding bodies may 
propose additional qualifications where the following evidence can be provided: 

 robust evidence of shortages in valuable skills 

 being identified in a regional skills plan, linked to the Industrial 
Strategy or other strategic skills-based strategies and plans 

 support from Skills Advisory Panels, MCAs and/or GLA, or a LEP. 
 

2.12 Submission can be made on a single monthly submission and will be reviewed 
in January, March, May and July 2021. 

 
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
3.1 Availability of L3 qualifications in relation to future green skills needed in the 

region should be considered as part of the review. 

25

https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/the-uks-industrial-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/topical-events/the-uks-industrial-strategy


 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 Availability of L3 progression routes across a range of occupations should be 

considered as part of the review. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 Disbursement of funds will be informed by the Employment and Skills Panel 

and overseen by the Adult Education Budget team. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 Delegation of funds will be via MOU for Adult Education Budget. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Panel is asked to review the analysis of take up and propose additional 

Level 3 qualifications for submission. 
 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 

None.  
 

 
 

26



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   FE Reform “Skills for Jobs” 

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Sonya Midgley, Policy Manager 

 

1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To update the Panel on White Paper on FE Reform ‘Skills for Jobs' 
 
1.2 The panel is asked to consider the reforms in relation to the work of the Panel 
 
1.3 The panel is asked to comment on the next steps proposed for West Yorkshire 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1 The White Paper on FE Reform ‘Skills for jobs: lifelong learning for opportunity 

and growth’ is a cross departmental paper, led by DfE that was published on 
21 January 20211. 

 
2.2 The paper is the fifteenth white paper on FE since the 1992 Further and 

Higher Education Act. The paper contains 35 reforms in five key areas: 

1. Putting employers at the heart of post-16 skills   

2. Providing the advanced technical and higher technical skills the UK needs   

3. A Flexible Lifetime Skills Guarantee   

4. Responsive providers, supported by effective accountability and funding   

5. Supporting outstanding teaching   
 
2.3 The three main policy aims of the paper are: 

 Putting employers at the heart of the system 

 Enabling people to upskill and retrain 

 Creating greater flexibility and accountability 

                                                           
1 The full paper is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-
opportunity-and-growth 
 

27

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-and-growth
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-and-growth


2.4 Roles and responsibilities at the regional level are not fully detailed leading to 
a lack of clarity about the flexibilities to align skills provision with local skills 
needs. In particular, while Trailblazer pilots are anticipated in early 2021, the 
details of pilots and implementation have not been set out in the paper and 
there is a lack of clarity on the geography these will take place in. 

 
2.5  Specified statutory functions are devolved to Combined Authorities, including 

Adult Education Budget, Local Digital Skills Partnership and delegation of the 
L3 entitlement. Skills Advisory Panels will continue to produce a Local Skills 
Report. Consequently, West Yorkshire Combined Authority remains 
responsible for working with key stakeholders to set the strategic economic 
objectives, and skills priorities in the region. 

 
2.6 The Secretary of State will acquire new reserve powers including to intervene 

locally to close or set up college corporations, bring about changes to 
membership or composition of governing bodies or review leadership. The 
Government will be able to intervene quickly and decisively in cases where 
there are persistent problems that cannot otherwise be addressed, either 
where colleges are not delivering effectively, or where local providers are 
consistently unable to deliver the skills priorities for that area. 

 
Key Elements of the White Paper 

2.7 The following summarises the proposals included in the White Paper. A 
mindmap of all the reforms is available at Appendix 1. 
  

2.8 Local skills improvement plans (LSIPs); LSIPs will ask employers to set out 
an ‘evidence-based assessment of skills needs’ over 3 years initially and 
reviewed regularly thereafter. LSIPs will be statutory and build on the work of 
MCAs, LEPs and SAPs, and will feed into the national Skills and Productivity 
Board.  Trailblazer pilot areas will be announced early 2021 and will be led by 
accredited Chambers. There are two accredited Chambers operating in West 
Yorkshire; York and North Yorkshire (Bradford, Leeds, York and North Yorks) 
and Mid-Yorkshire (Calderdale, Kirklees and Wakefield).  The Chambers work 
closely together and collaborate across their agendas.   

  
2.9 Strategic Development Fund ; the £65m Fund offers capital and revenue 

funding to groups of colleges to upgrade existing facilities / equipment or to 
introduce new college business centres. Colleges outside ‘trailblazer’ areas 
will need to demonstrate employer support. Further details are imminent.   

  
2.10 College Business Centres; Supported through the Strategic Development 

Fund and concentrating on local priority sectors, employers will be connected 
with others and technical experts to increase productivity and innovation. The 
model seeks to complement existing business support services, whilst also 
supporting businesses to navigate the skills system.  

  
2.11 Apprenticeships and traineeships; From August 2021, levy-paying 

employers will be able to pledge specific amounts of their levy funds to 
transfer, and an online levy-transfer matching service will be made available.   

  

28



2.12 A flexible Lifetime Skills Guarantee; A Lifelong Loan Entitlement will be 
introduced from 2025, to the value of four years’ post-18 education and can be 
used over an individual’s lifetime. The loan may be used for modules or full 
years of study at levels four to six. Pilots will be introduced to test models for 
flexible, modular learning and transferring module credits between providers. 
Providers will be encouraged to make use of digital and blended learning.  

 
2.13 New Level 3 qualification entitlement; Allowing adults to obtain their first 

level 3 (A-Level equivalent) free in ‘areas valued by employers’ and 
determined nationally, will be delegated to MCAs. (see agenda item 8) 

 
2.14 Digital Bootcamps are being piloted, including in West Yorkshire.  
 
2.15 The National Careers Service website will become a ‘single source of 

government-assured careers information for young people and adults’, 
detailing all learning and careers routes available. Local and national 
alignment of the National Careers Service and Careers and Enterprise 
Company is identified as needed.  

 
 Responsive providers, supported by more effective accountability and funding  

2.16 An outcomes-based funding model will be introduced for providers, with strong 
links to the needs set out in LSIPs. Multi-year funding introduced for providers 
with allocations being based on needs rather than historical allocations.   

 
2.17 UK Shared Prosperity Fund programme to provide ‘first step’ provision in 

social inclusion, employment and skills for vulnerable adults, and the rest of 
the system will be aligned accordingly.  

 
2.18 Supporting outstanding teaching; A national recruitment campaign will be 

launched in 2021, targeting individuals with industry experience. An employer-
led standard for FE teaching will be developed for introduction in September 
2021.  Industry placements and teaching secondments will be trailed to build 
networks with employers and update teaching expertise.  

 
2.19 Skills Capital; The Lifetime Skills Guarantee has already announced £200m 

during 2020/21 to upgrade college estates. In addition, a Further Education 
Capital Transformation Programme will provide £1.3bn. T-level providers will 
benefit from £268m investment over 3 years. There will be an initial focus on 
increasing funding for 16-19 places, with £83m available from 2021/22 with a 
review of future demand undertaken ahead of the next spending review. 

 
Responses to the White Paper 

2.20 There is some commonality between the Future-Ready Skills Commission 
recommendations and the White Paper. Six of the nine recommendations are 
touched on in the reforms, although the White Paper mainly deals with 
a centralised approach to skills, including setting national skills priorities. It 
does not make the MCA, LEP or Local Authority roles and accountabilities 
clear in the same way the Skills’ Commission blueprint does (see figure 1).   

 

29



Figure 1; Skills Commission proposed roles and responsibilities within a reformed 
post-16 skills system  

 

2.21 The White paper includes proposals relevant to the following Commission 
recommendations. 

 A response to the call for greater investment in training, including 
investment in facilities and staffing, to meet the current and future 
regional skills needs. The proposals in the White Paper include a £65m 
fund to support implementation of LSIPs and College Business Centres, 
as well as recruitment campaigns and development opportunities for 
teaching and industry staff. 

 The Commission outlined the case that areas are best placed to 
understand their own skills requirements and implement statutory five-
year strategic skills plans to make it happen. Skills Advisory Panels will 
continue to be funded and new LSIPs will be 3 years initially and then 
renewed regularly, with the approach to this will be piloted in early 2021.   

 The introduction of the lifelong learning loan entitlement for higher 
technical education for up to four years of study and proposals for credit 
transfer aligns with the Commission’s recommendation to ensure the 
funding system offers fair access regardless of age, level of attainment, 
background and learning route.   

 Government-backed careers information, occupational maps and access 
to regional and local labour market information, align with the 
recommendation for access to quality information about jobs and careers 
at all life stages. The Commission set out the need for locally rooted 
careers information and coordinated services. 

30



 The Commission recommended a joined-up approach to business 
support so that people find the help they need, regardless of route, and 
that employers should take greater ownership of talent management and 
skills development. The proposed College Business Centres and LSIPs 
are mechanisms to do this.   

 The Commission recommended that the Apprenticeship system should 
recognise and resource local areas as the key route for employers and 
individuals. The White Paper proposes a central, national levy matching 
system. 

 
2.22 The sector response from West Yorkshire Learning Providers (Appendix 2), 

Yorkshire Universities (Appendix 3), and Association of Colleges (Appendix 4) 
are included with this paper. 

 

What is already happening?  

2.23 There are several existing programmes that respond to local labour market 
needs and strategic priorities for Employment and Skills agreed with key 
stakeholders in the region, that support the White Paper proposals:   

 Skills Capital funding through the Growth Deal has enabled FE colleges 
to invest in world-class facilities to meet current and future skills demand.   

 The AEB strategy and devolved budget will deliver a more efficient 
and responsible system to ensure the right training and support offers are 
made to fill prevalent local skills gaps.  

 Delivery agreements  between the LEP and the seven West Yorkshire 
FE colleges, ensuring that delivery and curriculum are planned to reflect 
the region’s skills priorities.  

 The LEP’s levy transfer service supports businesses wishing to transfer 
their unused levy, the sourcing of training providers and managing 
applications for support from SMEs.  

 ESF Skills For Growth programme has worked with 90 businesses in its 
first four months, supporting them to navigate the skills system and 
access appropriate offers to meet local needs. The programme also 
encourages employers to collaborate with education providers on 
graduate recruitment fairs, placements and careers resources.  

 FutureGoals is the LEP’s careers inspiration and information platform, 
showcasing jobs and careers to help people of all ages choose their 
career paths, using resources linked to local labour market information 
and developed in collaboration with employers and education. 

 The School Partnerships includes the Enterprise Adviser Network and 
Careers Hubs continue to support secondary schools and colleges to 
engage with employers and ensure the Baker clause is delivered.  

 
Next Steps 

2.24 Further communications will include clarification on the LEP role in relation to  
FE capital investment and links to strategic priorities and functions. 

31

https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/all-news-and-blogs/news-archive/country-s-largest-package-of-skills-capital-investment-means-600m-of-economic-impact-for-yorkshire/
https://www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/media/5148/wyca-adult-education-budget-strategy-sept-20.pdf
https://www.the-lep.com/research-and-publications/research-publications-archive/
https://www.the-lep.com/all-news-and-blogs/santander-and-the-lep-announce-1-million-partnership-to-support-apprenticeships-in-leeds-city-region/
https://www.the-lep.com/business-support/skills-and-training/skills-for-growth/
https://futuregoals.co.uk/
https://futuregoals.co.uk/employers/


2.25 Following a meeting between Minister for Apprenticeships and Skills and the 
Chair of the Combined Authority, the Department has committed to continue 
working with the Combined Authority on implementation of Trailblazer pilots to 
support the delivery of the White Paper’s aims of an employer-led post-16 
skills system that is simplified for individuals, and promotes quality technical 
education in line with labour market needs. 

 
2.26 Following conversations with our key strategic partners including both local 

Chambers of Commerce, college Principals, Yorkshire Universities and West 
Yorkshire Learning Providers the Combined Authority has agreed to: 

 work strategically with the Chambers and other business membership 
organisations 

 collaborate to create a template for a trailblazer LSIP pilot area that 
builds on the strengths of partners in the region, and across a FEA  

 work together to secure a pilot for West Yorkshire for a trailblazer pilot 
 
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
3.1 It is currently unclear how the regional priorities will be reflected in national 

skills priorities. This will be a continued area of focus, and we will proactively 
seek to influence the national approach where relevant. 

 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 The Lifetime Skills Guarantee offers a funded progression route to higher level 

skills for adults without a L3 qualification in economically valuable areas. This 
will be monitored to ensure that learner outcomes lead to progression. 

 
 4.2 There is a great emphasis on employers, and employer-led skills system.  

Engaging a representative range of employers across the skills agenda will 
require investment in capacity building and a change of culture. There is a risk 
that the skills system will over rely on a small number of employers that have 
the capacity and goodwill to engage with the system 

 
4.3 Implementation at a local level will be key to ensuring that all neighbourhoods 

and citizens benefit from lifelong learning, including alignment of UKSPF and 
devolved AEB. This includes supporting individuals aspirations through quality 
careers advice that is locally rooted, and delivered by services that are trusted. 

 
4.4 LSIPs should take into account the strategic economic, and employment and 

skills priorities that MCAs, LEPs and key partners have agreed. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 

32



 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Panel is asked to recommend that officers continue conversations with 

senior government officials to support implementation of the trailblazer pilots in 
West Yorkshire 

 
9.2 The Panel is asked to recommend that officers continue to work with key 

partners on implementation of the White Paper proposals, building on the 
achievements secured to date. 

 
9.3  The Panel is asked to consider the following questions: 

 How can we build on our existing strengths and work together in West 
Yorkshire to support implementation of the trailblazer pilots?   

 How do we ensure that all sectors and sizes or employers are 
represented in pilots? 

 What are the successful elements of a trailblazer pilot and how can we 
build on what is already in place? 

 How will LSIPs align with the strategic economic priorities identified in 
the SEF and Employment and Skills Plan? 

 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 
11.1 Appendix 1 – Mindmap from Northern Skills Network 
 
11.2 Appendix 2 – WYN Learning Provider Response 
 
11.3 Appendix 3 – Yorkshire Universities Response  
 
11.4 Appendix 4 – AOC Response  
 
 

33



This page is intentionally left blank



FE White Paper

Employers 

central 

role

Local Skills 

Improvement 

Plans

3 yrs in duration 

then updated 

regularly

Trailblazer areas 

(MCAs/LEPs?)
Led by 

accredited 

Chambers of 

Commerce

Statutory 

footing?

Strategic 

Development Fund 

(Cap + Rev)

Pilot areas 

2021/22
Colleges to reshape 

their provision

Est College 

Business 

Centre

Work with employers 

in a sector on 

development & 

innovation

National 

Skills & 

Productivity 

Board

Labour mkt 

trends & skills 

gaps

Lifetime 

Skills 

Guarantee

Lifetime loan 

entitlement 

from 2025

≡ 4 yrs post 

18 education

Employer led 

Digital Boot 

Camps

Flexible Trg 

between 12 

– 16 wks

Nuclear Boot 

Camp Jan’21

6 areas

£43m 

2021/22

National 

Skills Fund
£2.5bn of 

which £95m 

in 2021/22

PurposeUpskill & reskill

Consultation to take 

place Spring’21

Help adults to 

achieve 1st L3

Apprentic

eships

£2.5bn 

2021/22

More support for 

non-levy SMEs

95% of Trg & 

Assessment costs

Development of 

sectoral ATAs

Front Loaded & 

shorter duration 

Apps

Outstanding 

Teaching

Reform of 

funding

Reform of 

Higher Tech 

Education

Colleges

.

Greater role for IfATE 

& OfQUAL

Specifically 

L4&5

New approval sys 

based on employers 

needs

National sys of stds by 

2030

National 

Kitemark

New powers for 

Sec of  State

Either for 

colleges not 

delivering 

effectively

Or where 

providers are 

unable to deliver 

the skills in their 

area

Strengthening 

governance
Improving 

outcomes for 

employment

Recognised as 

important for 

apprenticeship 

delivery

ITPs
BUT quality poor 

cf colleges

New accountability 

system with more 

timely intervention £1.5bn over 

next 5 yrsFull refresh of RoATP 

commencing Apr’21

Role of 

SAPs?

Simplification & 

move to multi-yr 

funding

Initial Teacher 

Education to be 

improved and 

standardised

New 

accountability 

structure to 

underpin LSIPs Focus on outcomes

Workforce data 

collection

National 

recruitment 

campaign

35

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SKILLS FOR JOBS – FE WHITE PAPER –
WNY LEARNING PROVIDERS

RESPONSE

This position paper will breakdown the key deliverables identified within

the paper and how we, as a network and as providers, can respond.  

The focus on jobs and growth will be delivered by 5 key themes:

Putting employers at the heart of the system so that education and

training leads to jobs that can improve productivity and fill skills

gaps. 

Investing in higher-level technical qualifications that provide a

valuable alternative to a university degree. 

Making sure people can access training and learning flexibly

throughout their lives and are well-informed about what is on offer

through great careers support. 

Reforming funding and accountability for providers to simplify how

funds are allocated, give providers more autonomy, and ensure an

effective accountability regime which delivers value for money. 

Supporting excellent teaching in further education.

S K I L L S  F O R  J O B S  –  F E  W H I T E  P A P E R  –  
W N Y  L E A R N I N G  P R O V I D E R S  R E S P O N S E

“At W&NY Learning Providers we support much of the white paper, how it details plans for our sector and the statements it

makes on addressing the needs of improving skills and reforming the FE landscape.  The overarching narrative within the

paper is

in putting employers central to the future skills system – which although we support, is certainly something we have heard

before in other Government strategies and we must not forget our commitment to learners at all levels of

education, social mobility and levelling up. 

However, there are definitely new ways of improved working highlighted within this reform that we will not have dealt

with before but I believe as we already have excellent, strong relationships with the chamber and other business

membership bodies (FSB, CBI, LEPs etc) we are in a great position to support the roll-out of the FE reform for the

employers & communities we serve locally.  I believe this paper provides a good opportunity for providers and the network

to further develop & grow engagement with employers and help shape a local skills curriculum that is successful and

impactful locally, as our members are truly at the heart of any employer-led strategy”.   Alex Miles, WNY Learning

Providers, Managing Director

37

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



S K I L L S  F O R  J O B S  –  F E  W H I T E  P A P E R  –  W N Y  L E A R N I N G  P R O V I D E R S  R E S P O N S E

The Five themes & WNY LP response
Putting employers at the heart - We are in a great position to
support this theme with our existing successful working relationship
with the WNY Chamber of commerce & in 2020 we launched our joint
workforce development & future skills needs survey for local
businesses to complete.  WYLP is represented on the WNY Chamber
Leadership Board so this will provide a great opportunity for skills and
employers to be further aligned and ensure any skills curriculum
developed by the chamber truly reflects all employers needs as well as
providing a better understanding how providers and colleges operate,
deliver
and can respond accordingly.  Skills providers & colleges have
developed long standing, collaborative, great working relationships with
employers locally and this can only help the
chamber, LEP, MCA have the right provision to address local priorities &
meet employer needs (we must also not forget learners needs too).  As
a sector we need to ensure the IfATE are developing standards in a
timely manner, that have a wider employer involvement & testing than
currently in place & this will be part of the future communication
between the network, NSN and IfATE moving forward.  The papers
response to Apprenticeships and its 3-way approach – we are in a great
position to support further employers involved in apprenticeships,
working with the apprenticeship hubs, chambers & other business
networks and engaging with young people through our school’s project
and adult learners through the devolved AEB coming in 2021. The
Paper discusses gaining more feedback from employers, and we
started that process in 2021 with our first roundtable discussion
between ESFA & employers – which generated a fantastic, lively debate
on future apprenticeship improvements and an exercise we will
continue – however we need to get more involvement in feedback and
sessions with smaller employers so the same players with the same
messages are not getting feedback to government and local officials on
employer needs.  With regard to traineeships, Providers have already
started positively developing traineeship programmes locally, however
this is led by funding & with a very limiting 19+ tendering process and
new
entrants at 16-18 not yet mentioned this is very restrictive to support
growth.  If the Gov wants this element to achieve it needs to be more
inclusive & open the funding to meet demand – a better managed
funding ability, will lead to better & more traineeships offered.  We will
continue to promote and
share traineeship opportunities, discuss with young people and help
providers develop & strengthen their traineeship offer.  Our members
fully support the need to further support the participation in English,
math & digital skills, but there is more to
do from across the sector & locally to ensure this provision is top
quality and aimed at the people who need it most, that support social
mobility, social value and progress to employment. We have a Green
Skills and an Adult & Community working group for network members
which addresses some of these development areas and we will
continue using this group to raise areas of business needs and
engagement activities for the network.  We will work with members and
sector support agencies, such as ETF, to ensure the development &
quality of these essential skills remains a key development area for the
network, our members and the skills plans locally (that sometimes tend
to focus more on higher level skills).

Higher-level technical qualifications / skills - We generally
support this theme, but I believe there is a missed group of people
or communities that are not yet higher level. There is a lack of
pathway alignment or mapping that identifies and highlights how to
lead to higher level learning and identifying appropriate “hop on –
hop off” points in the education pathways so it is inclusive for
everyone. The introduction of specific level 3 qualification is not really
supporting the “employer led” rhetoric of the reform, if the Gov is
mandating the qualifications. Surely this should be a demand led
offer.  The national skills fund will provide opportunity for adults to
upskill and our skills providers & colleges will welcome this, however
the devil will be in the detail and if this displaces opportunities that
our devolved AEB should fill. The Gov clearly has an aspiration to
grow level 4 & 5 provision, so providers need to think about their
curriculum offer for the future and how they can continue the critical
level 2 and below provision they offer but also support the papers
theme for higher level skills – working with businesses and helping
providers with their quality skills offer will be apriority for the
network.  However, it is crucial that quality provision is supported
with the appropriate funding mechanisms to allow providers &
colleges to develop their staff, recruit outstanding quality tutors and
trainers and retain staff with the appropriate salaries.   
Our network can be the key aid to help link businesses and providers
together further to ensure provision can be flexible and meet the
needs and share the LMI, skills needs and relationships and
partnerships with businesses across the region.

A Flexible Lifetime Skills Guarantee - Supporting a lifetime of
learning theme is always going to crucial and welcomed by us as the
network and our members – for a long-time adult education has not
been seen as much of a priority or need as funding and support for
younger people – both are critical to ensuring the local economy and
employment grows and recovers. We already work with the national
careers service and local careers services; however, this could be
strengthened and we will include in our business plans moving
forward so providers and careers services can better communicate,
share messaging and provide a single source of careers information
locally. In 2020 we launched our skills matrix for WY and will develop
a NY matrix in early 2021 – this shares the provision available locally
into themes, and we will continue to develop and evolve this matrix
throughout the year to promote what our members can offer and
build in the lifetime learning and skills provision. We also have a
comprehensive apprenticeship directory for WY and will launch in NY
in 2021 also and continue to align the skills & apprenticeship
pathways to local members and local provision so businesses, young
people and adults know what is available to them in our region. We
support the link to the Baker clause and will continue to develop this
as part of our ASK project interactions and work with schools and
providers to share the skills offer and opportunities locally.  We also
fully support the area of Improving how teaching is delivered so that
it is more accessible, with the use of digital and blended learning and
this has been a core CPD theme throughout 2020 and will remain so
as we move forward.  This is addressed in the quality corner monthly
sessions we hold, and we have a range of support offered to
providers to help develop and grow this area.  We are also
supporting the digital bootcamps and response from the LEP’s /
WYCA and we have continued with our Green Skills working group
which incorporates digital developments.

38



Reforming funding and accountability for providers - There is
always nervousness when hearing funding is going to be streamlined
and simplified – we have heard that before with apprenticeship reforms
& other consultations which actually had the opposite affect – so the
devil is definitely going to be in the detail here and we will keep
members up to date with all developments on this.  A certainty on
funding is the absolute dream for our sector and members so we
welcome this with open arms, but we need to be clear this is for all
funding streams and all providers, if we want an inclusive, high quality
skills system in this country then there needs to be parity and harmony
of funding – if employers are really at the heart of this reform, then the
funding needs to reflect that – businesses do not care about the
intricacies of the different funding models between colleges, providers
or programmes - they simply want the best provider to deliver the best
provision for them – our funding system needs to reflect that and stop
over complicating things.  
We will work with partners on developing Local Skills Improvement
Plans and ensure that all provider and provision types are included and
locally this is seen as a true partnership arrangement for all parties and
building on what works and not forcing new ways of working.  
As we already have strong links with the chambers, LEPs, CBI & other
business membership bodies, so we are in a great position to further
develop the conversation locally for our members that leads to positive
change for employers and providers.  We are not starting off the
backfoot unlike other regions where these excellent working
relationships and links do not yet exist. 
When discussing subcontracting I am sure we will all agree
we would like to see poor practice taken out of the sector, but we are
very clear this needs to be better managed by ESFA and not an
ignorant approach that states poor practice exists in certain provider
base instead of addressing it for all.  We are well positioned to support
providers & colleges with their subcontracting arrangements, risk
assessments, provide critical external support and oversight and
encourage local partnerships that offer a robust skills offer that meets
the needs of all.  
We do not support a refresh of RoATP in April for the full sector, all
providers have enough on their hands dealing with learners and
employers through recovery – now is not the time for a blanket
approach but for the agency to have better control of providers that
need more support or removal from the sector – this is poorly timed
and poorly throughout our approach to drive up the quality of
apprenticeships.

Supporting excellent teaching in further education - WYLP will
fully support its members on the journey to outstanding and as such
we will improve the provision of high-quality professional
development and support progression for teachers and support the
reform of initial teacher education and recognise the importance of
initial teacher training to drive quality teaching, learning and
assessment practice.
Through partnership working with key partners’, we will promote and
share the opportunities which are available to industry experts and
how to make the transition from industry expert to dual professional
in the FE and skills sector. Through utilising our links with universities
& careers partners, we will provide insight into the career
opportunities available working in the FE sector and what the
routeways and financial incentives available to encourage graduates
to explore moving into the education sector. 
We will endeavour to provide high quality CPD opportunities
for our network members which are frequent & topical to supporting
excellent teacher training and develop and to ensure that these are
accessible to all and not just new teachers.  We
will ensure all trainers are provided with CPD & skills development
opportunities that continuously maintain and improve knowledge
and skills with flexibility as to this being face to face, synchronous or
asynchronous to ensure accessibility for all. We will continue to
develop & provide opportunity for mentoring support to enable
individuals to take those steps on a new career path and provide
support to make the transition from industry to teacher.
Through utilising our established links with employers and
memberships to various groups and boards across the districts to
identify and secure opportunities for teachers to access and essential
to maintain and develop professional skills and expertise to enable
teachers to train the industry experts of the future and meet the
skills needs of the area.
We will scrutinise workforce data which is published to provide
members with a breakdown of the data and how this can shape their
provision offer and curriculums to address the gaps in the region and
employment opportunities available to individuals. This will also
highlight any potential skills gaps for providers own workforce and
upskilling requirements which we will then work with them to secure.

S K I L L S  F O R  J O B S  –  F E  W H I T E  P A P E R  –  W N Y  L E A R N I N G  P R O V I D E R S  R E S P O N S E

The Five themes & WNY LP response

To discuss or provide your own feedback on the White Paper or
our response please get in touch – alex.miles@wylp.org.uk

39



This page is intentionally left blank



Response by Yorkshire Universities to 
the Skills for Jobs White Paper 
21 January 2021 

Responding to the launch today of the Skills for Jobs White Paper, Dr 
Peter O’Brien, Executive Director of YU, said: 
 

“Education, training and skills are vital to the prosperity of regions 
like Yorkshire. The commitment by the government to invest more 
resources in technical education, and introduce new mechanisms 
for individuals to participate in lifelong learning, is important, 
especially as the nature of employment and the economy 
undergoes continued change.” 

“If the ‘Levelling Up’ agenda is to be successful, then we need long-
term investment in all parts of the education system, and closer 
alignment with diverse local and regional economies. The new local 
skills improvement plans, which are expected to shape technical 
skills provision to meet local labour market skills needs, should be 
integral within local and regional economic strategies. Universities 
in Yorkshire already work closely with further education colleges, 
employers and local partners in designing and implementing many 
aspects of technical and vocational education, and the proposals in 
the White Paper reaffirm the importance of such collaboration.” 

“Going forward, it is vital that the education system is seen as ‘one 
system’, and we look forward to responding in due course to the 
government’s proposals for post-18 education, ahead of this year’s 
Comprehensive Spending Review.” 

Notes 
Yorkshire Universities has a shared commitment to strengthen the contribution 
of universities and higher education institutions to the economic, social and 
civic well-being of people and places in Yorkshire. 

The members of Yorkshire Universities are: Leeds Arts University; Leeds 
Conservatoire; Leeds Beckett University; Leeds Trinity University; Sheffield 
Hallam University; University of Bradford; University of Huddersfield; 
University of Hull; University of Leeds; University of Sheffield; University of 
York; and York St John University. 

The Chair of Yorkshire Universities is Professor Shirley Congdon, Vice-
Chancellor, University of Bradford. 

41

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/skills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-and-growth


This page is intentionally left blank



FE White Paper - AoC's response 
“This is an ambitious package of measures which can deliver a significant shift in how 

we support the lifelong education and skills needs of more than half the population 

and ensure that employers have the skilled people they need. With funding over the 

coming years to match the welcome policy shifts, this should rebalance the 

education and skills system to make it work for everyone. 

I’m delighted that this puts skills at the heart of the pandemic build back, and 

recognises the vital role that colleges and further education will play in levelling up 

for people and places whilst tackling long standing concerns about stagnating 

productivity. Colleges have shown throughout the pandemic an unerring focus on 

the students, employers and communities they serve – this package shows that the 

government trusts them to deliver an ambitious and much-needed boost to skills 

which are vital for our changing economy and labour markets.  

These are concrete plans which can deliver the government’s levelling up 

commitments. Colleges have been calling for this, after years of being overlooked 

and underutilised, but government has to not only recognise the vital college role, it 

also needs to increase funding. Colleges have shown during the pandemic that they 

are the vehicle to transforming lives, and supporting communities and employers, 

and we need the spending review this year to invest more in them. Today’s white 

paper will stimulate demand from people and employers and unshackle colleges 

from unhelpful policy and bureaucracy, ready for Treasury to show that it recognises 

that spending on skills is an investment with a strong return.  

The reforms build on what colleges already do well so it’s not about taking a 

wrecking ball to existing infrastructure or making colleges start from scratch, but 

investing in them to play a bigger part in supporting local businesses and local 

communities. Colleges share the ambition of a skills system which helps people on 

their journey to good work and supports their progression to higher-paid jobs. 

Achieving that will require stronger collaboration with more employers including 

through Chambers of Commerce and business groups but also directly through new 

College Business Centres. This has the potential to engage thousands more SMEs to 

help them build their businesses, whilst supporting more people in a shifting 

economy and labour market.” 

The new lifelong loan entitlement, offering flexible student finance, will make it easier 

for more adults to retrain as the labour market and jobs change. This drive to widen 

access to skills for all is exciting, but it is vital that students have personal financial 

support while training and studying to ensure that everybody can participate at all 

levels of learning. 

43

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 4



The white paper sets out a big and positive agenda for colleges to help co-design 

with government and with employers and there are many details to fill in. As we 

successfully build a better post-18 system, we will urge the government to work with 

us on similar co-design of the 14 to 19 education phase and on how higher 

education needs to change to work more collaboratively with colleges. 

As a sector, colleges recognise the need to step into this challenge so it is heartening 

to see the commitment to streamline the accountability and funding systems that 

currently constrain them.  With more local autonomy and funding, colleges will be 

central to the rebuild and to the government’s ambitions for levelling up people and 

places and improving productivity. Ultimately our test on this will be whether the 

reforms deliver for the people, places and employers who all want the same things – 

more inclusive economic growth, stronger communities and opportunities for all 

adults to realise their talents and ambitions.” 

 

44



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Local Skills Report 

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Peter Glover, Economic Evidence Manager 

 

 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To update Panel members on the process for producing the Local Skills 

Report. 
 

1.2 To highlight the opportunity for Panel members and partners to contribute 
content to the report. 
 

1.3 To highlight arrangements for sign-off of the report by the Panel. 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1 Local Skills Reports are intended to set out each area’s unique skills 

landscape and skills needs. They also cover progress on skills-related 
activities and set out how local partners can support local skills plans.  They 
are required to present information in a consistent way across all Skills 
Advisory Panels (SAPs).  The overall aim is to maximise SAPs’ influence, 
engage local partners and feed intelligence into central government and the 
national-level Skills and Productivity Board (SPB).   

 
2.2 The LEP is required to publish a Report under its current Memorandum of 

Understanding with the Department for Education by the end of March 2021.  
The Local Skills Report should serve as a useful position statement on the 
Leeds City Region skills system as we enter a period of change in local 
structures arising from the proposals contained in the White Paper. 

 
Content of the report 

2.3 The following table provides an overview of the required structure and content 
of the report as set out in the Department for Education guidance.  The 
content will largely draw on and summarise existing material such as the 

45

Agenda Item 10



Leeds City Region Employment and Skills Plan, Labour Market report plus 
material supplied by partners relating to their skills activities. 

 

Content Description 

1 Foreword A foreword by the SAP Chair providing their personal 
reflections on the SAP’s progress and summarising the 
main points of the report. 

2 Skills Advisory 
Panels- 
Introduction 

An overview of the governance and geography of the 
specific SAP area alongside information about the SAP 
programme more broadly 

3 Skills strengths 
and needs 

A summary of the SAP’s skills landscape, key skills needs 
and any unique geographic or socioeconomic features. A 
summary with an accompanying hyperlink can be used if 
this information is already published elsewhere. 

4 Skills strategy An outline of how the SAP intends to prioritise its skills 
needs. A summary with an accompanying hyperlink can be 
used if this information is already published elsewhere. 

5 Skills action 
plan 

An overview of the skills actions the SAP intends to take in 
the local area to address its skills priorities. A summary 
with an accompanying hyperlink can be used if this 
information is already published elsewhere. 

6 Assessment of 
progress 

A critical look at progress made against the SAP’s skills 
strategy and action plan. Includes a reflection on key 
achievements and any challenges they have faced. 

7 Case studies / 
positive impact 
stories 

An opportunity for the SAP to share success stories, case 
studies that show how skills mismatches are being 
addressed and highlight examples of businesses being 
attracted to the area because of its skills base and/or 
strategy for the future. 

8 Looking forward Draws together the thinking from across Chapters 4, 5 and 
6 and provides a clear message for providers and 
employers on how they can support the local skills agenda. 

 
2.4 Since we are seeking to capture information about the work of organisations 

from across the local employment and skills system, we have invited partners 
to submit contributions to inform the content of the report, including examples 
of case studies. We have received a positive response and the material will be 
incorporated into the report as appropriate, particularly within sections 6 and 7.  
However, there is still an opportunity for members of the Panel and other 
colleagues to submit content (particularly case studies) which we will consider 
for inclusion. 

 
Sign-off 
 

2.5 The Department for Education’s guidance indicates that SAPs are expected to 
obtain SAP Chair sign off on their Local Skills Reports.  For Leeds City Region 

46



this equates to sign off by the Chair and wider membership of the Employment 
and Skills Panel, which serves as the Skills Advisory Panel for the local area. 

 
2.6 The LEP is required to share a draft of the Local Skills Report with the 

Department for Education for their review.  Once this review has taken place, 
we propose to share the report by email with Panel members for their review 
and sign-off.  We expect that the draft document will be circulated in early 
March to allow time for any feedback to be reflected in the draft document 
prior to it being finalised. 

 
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
3.1 The report will set out details of the progress we have made in addressing the 

climate emergency through action on employment and skills. 
 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 The report will set out details of the progress we have made on inclusive 

growth with specific reference to the employment and skills agenda. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 Stakeholder organisations have been consulted on the Local Skills Report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 To note the structure and content of the report. 
 
9.2 To note the process and timescales for production and publication of the 

report. 
 
9.3 To note the opportunity to submit content for inclusion. 
 
 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 

47



11. Appendices 
 

None.  

48



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Employment and Skills Plan Refresh 

Director: Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications 

Author: Sonya Midgley, Policy Manager 

 

 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 To update the Panel on the final stage of the Employment and Skills Plan 

refresh. 
 

1.2 To seek the Panel’s endorsement to publish the refreshed Employment and 
Skills priorities and indicative actions as an Employment and Skills 
Framework. 
 

1.3 A presentation will be shared at the meeting to cover the key elements and 
design proposals for the Framework. 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1 In March 2020, the Panel agreed a workplan to refresh the existing 

Employment and Skills Plan; Skilled People, Better Jobs (2016-2020). 
 
2.2 Since publication there has been significant progress against many of the 

high-level priorities set out in the plan and several significant changes in the 
landscape. This includes the recent publication of the cross-departmental, DfE 
led White Paper on FE Reform (Jan 2021), as well as the yet to be published 
White Paper on devolution. As the detail of these reforms emerge they will 
require a detailed response, including actions for the Combined Authority and 
its partners.    

  
2.3 It is therefore proposed that in order to remain flexible whilst ensuring that the 

City Region’s employment and skills priorities remain strategic and clear, the 
work that has been done to refresh the current Employment and Skills Plan is 
published as an Employment and Skills Framework. The Framework will 
include high level priorities, indicative actions and a sectoral focus whilst 
allowing more detailed plans to be formed through of the ongoing agenda of 

49

Agenda Item 11



the Employment and Skills Panel and other more detailed plans . e.g.  digital 
skills will be addressed through the Local Digital Skills Partnership Plan. 
 

Review of the existing plan 

2.4 The review of the existing plan has included: 

 A review undertaken with key partners and a comprehensive analysis of 
progress against the existing priorities  

 An extensive consultation and engagement phase on the strengths, 
challenges and refreshed priorities for employment and skills with over 200 
key stakeholders and partners including employers, business 
intermediaries, Local Authorities, universities, colleges, students, 
headteachers and VCS organisations,.  

 An online Your Voice survey ran for four weeks (11 August -6 September) 
and received 113 responses.   

 A joint workshop with BIG and ESP members on the indicative actions for 
the revised priorities. 

 
Refreshed Priorities  

2.5 It was agreed by the Panel, following the review, consultation and 
engagement phases, that the five main priorities remained broadly the right 
areas of focus although they needed to be refreshed to capture some of the 
main changes in the landscape and would benefit from being updated and 
future-proofed. The priorities have been refreshed as follows:  

  

CURRENT  REVISED  

More and better apprenticeships  Quality technical education  

Great education connected to business  Great education connected to business  

Employability, accessing jobs and 
realising potential  

Progression towards, and adaptability 
and resilience in good work  

Building workforce skills and attracting 
talent  

Creating a culture of investment in 
workforce skills  

Raising the bar on high level skills  Driving innovation and productivity 
through high level skills  

 
Overview of the Employment and Skills Plan Framework 

2.6 The Employment and Skills Framework has five priorities (above), three cross 
cutting themes; inclusive growth, digital skills and working towards net zero.  

 
2.7 The plan also aims to address the main skills and employment barriers in each 

of the main industrial sectors rather than identifying key sectors as in the 
previous plan. This will allow a broader engagement with employers as well as 
the City Region being better able to respond to the changing needs of sectors, 
particularly in the immediate economic climate created by Covid-19 and EU 
Exit.   

 

50



Figure:  
Draft Overview of 
the E&S 
Framework 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Next Steps 

2.8 It is proposed that the revised Employment and Skills priorities are published 
as a Framework that sets out the Region’s strategic aims. 

 
2.9 The LEP Board will consider the Framework for endorsement at their meeting 

on 24 February 
 
2.10 The Combined Authority will consider the Framework for endorsement at their 

meeting on 9 March. Subsequent publication of the framework will follow, 
subject to purdah restrictions.  

 
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
3.1 The Employment and Skills Framework is designed to ensure that all skills 

programme development considers contributions to tackling the climate 
emergency and our ambitious target to be carbon neutral by 2038, and 
working towards net zero is a cross cutting theme in the Framework. 

 
3.2 The framework sets out an ambition to work with partners through a Green 

Skills Partnership to develop a plan to address and provide for the specific 
skills needs required to meet future workforce demand and ensure a just 
transition for jobs at risk from decarbonisation.  

 
3.3 To support the future workforce and employment opportunities presented by 

the scale of projects such as retrofitting buildings will require, the framework 
sets out the priorities required to provide quality careers information and 
inspiration that focuses that highlight the importance of STEM subjects  

 
3.4 The priority around Quality Technical Education is clear that qualifications 

and training provision should be aligned to future skills needs, including in 
areas where job growth is forecast. 

51



 
4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1 The plan has a number of priorities and indicative actions that are expected to 

demonstrate progress in the following areas: 

 % qualified below level 2 

 Unemployment rate 

 % of employees in quality work 

 Apprenticeship starts 

 Jobs paying below Real Living Wage 

 Employment rate gap for disadvantaged groups 

 NEETs 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 The Employment & Skills Panel, acting as the City Region’s Skills Advisory 

Panel, is required to publish Employment and Skills priorities. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 Over 300 stakeholders were consulted as part of the plan’s development, 

including a Your Voice survey. The consultation and the results of the survey 
are published at www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/esp  

  
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Panel is asked to consider endorsement of the publication of an 

Employment and Skills Framework 
 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 

Appendix 1 – Employment and Skills Plan Framework 

52

https://www.yourvoice.westyorks-ca.gov.uk/esp


Overview of the presentation:

• To give an overview of the work of the 

Employment and Skills plan refresh

• To share the findings of consultation and 

engagement.

• To outline the priorities and objectives of the 

proposed Employment and Skills Framework.

53

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 1



Overview and context

54



Strategic Economic Framework

Employment and Skills 

Framework

Informed by Future 

Ready Skills 

Commission and 

Labour Market Report

Policy Context

Local Skills Report
High level 

skills

AEB

Strategy

Over 50s 
Green 

skills

Published
In 

development
Proposed

Delivery 

agreements LDSP

Economic Economic 

recovery 

plan

55



Strategic Economic Framework

56



Economic recovery plan

57



Employment and Skills Plan (2016-2020)

58



Future-Ready Skills Commission

Ten things that need to change:

59



Nine key recommendations:

Future-Ready Skills Commission

60



Adult Education Budget (AEB) Strategy

• Devolution of AEB requires a strategy, which has been submitted to DfE and 

is in consultation, in order to achieve a devolved AEB budget for 2021/22

• £63m annually to target the following priorities:

• Support the unemployed to gain and sustain employment

• Unlock progression opportunities and career adaptability through skills, 

particularly for those on low wages and with insecure work

• Making learning more inclusive to support disadvantaged residents

• Increase the supply of skills to support key sectors in West Yorkshire

• Improve West Yorkshire’s resilience by identifying and delivering the 

skills needed for the future

• Direct management of the training providers in West Yorkshire to influence 

and align spending on skills to the opportunities and needs in the local 

economy. LAs have both a strategic and delivery role within this system.

61



Scope  

62



Scope of the refresh

The plan should:

• Be strategic and practical in content and design

• Last 5 years, in line with Skills Commission proposals.

• Be flexible, allowing for changes and subsequent plans to 

align

• Be practical and allow stakeholders and partners to plan their 

own priorities and delivery

• Embed the priorities of the Strategic Economic Framework 

(SEF) and other key policies, for example Inclusive Growth 

and Climate Emergency priorities

• Be bold and ambitious outlining the actions required to meet 

the vision and support the case for further devolution

• Reflect the geographies of the Combined Authority and 

ensure that collaborative partnership work continues across 

the functional economic area of the region with minimal 

impact on the delivery of core projects

63



Geography

64



Timescales

Action Date

Endorsement from Employment and Skills Panel 

and LEP Board

February 2021

Endorsement from Combined Authority March 2021

Purdah Late March – May 2021

Publication Late May 2021

65



Vision  

66



Where do we want to be?

West Yorkshire is the largest labour market in the 

Northern Powerhouse, with strengths in manufacturing, financial 

and professional services, and the rapidly developing fields of 

digital and healthcare technology. Our diversity, rich cultural 

heritage and geography makes West Yorkshire one of the 

country’s best places to live, study and work.

Vision

Our Vision is for West Yorkshire to be a world-

leading region where investment in skills, training and education, 

and support from employers go hand in hand to create a diverse, 

inclusive, and highly skilled workforce with good jobs, leading to 

sustained improvements in the quality of life for all.

67



What does success look like? 

We want West Yorkshire to be a place where:
• There are no barriers to people taking up, progressing 

and succeeding in learning and work, and where they are 

supported into good employment

• Employers recognise the value of a diverse workforce and 

invest in their talent to develop the skills that will improve 

productivity and support progression in the workplace

• Individuals value lifelong learning and are able to make 

decisions about their development, informed by quality, 

relevant careers information based on the reality on 

the ground

• World class teaching and training provides 

flexible learning opportunities that align to the strategic 

needs of the local economy.

68



Consultation and Engagement

69



Consultation and engagement

• Over 200 key stakeholders and partners were consulted on 

the strengths, challenges and priorities for employment and skills in 
West Yorkshire.

• An online Your Voice survey ran for four weeks (11 August –

6 September) and received 113 responses from individuals, businesses,

education and training providers, and third sector organisations with an 
interest in the employment and skills landscape.

70



Consultation and engagement

Feedback from the engagements can be broadly summarised under 

the following headlines:

• Ensure quality careers information, which takes account of 

local labour market information, is accessible for all.

• Further inclusion of parents/carers is encouraged in young people’s 

careers information and decision-making

• Support for businesses to provide experiences of the workplace, work 

placements, apprenticeships, traineeships and internships

• Work placements are often assumed as for young people only. 

How can we highlight that these are essential for older workers 

when re-training or joining the workforce?

• Support for individuals, particularly young people, to take on 
apprenticeship opportunities.

71



Consultation and engagement
• Support for individuals’ adaptability and resilience in a dynamic 

labour market, including access to re-training opportunities 
and development of soft skills

• Reduce the ‘carousel’ effect, particularly for those on courses at 

level 2 and below, creating accessible progression routes and working 

towards the closure of existing skills gaps

• Encourage a more diverse and inclusive workforce by supporting 

businesses to adopt more inclusive recruitment and employment 

practices. Highlight the benefits of a diverse workforce for business 

productivity, performance and impact.

• Continue to encourage meaningful engagement between 

employers/employees and young people as part of careers education; 

this should begin in primary school

72



Consultation and engagement
• Continue to build on support for individuals 

experiencing unemployment, with particular support for young people 

and the over 50s, who can find it most difficult to enter or re-join the 

labour market.

• Support for the over 50s should be tailored to particular needs around 

flexibility, digital access and support, and confidence. Generic support 

may exclude, particularly in re-training and upskilling opportunities.

A 'you said, we did' piece will be published alongside the Employment and 
Skills Plan.

73



The framework

74



The refreshed priorities:

Theme Ambition

QUALITY TECHNICAL 

EDUCATION

Technical education is a choice with clearly developed pathways that meet the 

needs of employers 

GREAT EDUCATION CONNECTED 

TO BUSINESS

Learning supports preparation for and progression in work, it is informed by 

employers. Locally rooted careers information inspires and enables informed 

choices to support personal ambitions

ACCESSING AND PROGRESSING 

IN GOOD WORK

Everyone has the skills to be able to access  good work and is equally supported 

to take up training in the workplace that enables progression and development of 

transferable skills.

CREATING A CULTURE OF 

INVESTMENT

IN WORKFORCE SKILLS

Every employer has a skills plan and invests in the workforce at all levels leading 

to reduction in skills gaps reported and increased productivity at firm level

DRIVING INNOVATION AND 

PRODUCTIVITY

THROUGH HIGH LEVEL SKILLS

To increase the qualification levels, particularly in STEM, of working age adults, 

foster a culture of enterprise and innovation and widen the talent pool for 

employers

75



Plan on a Page DRAFT

76



Sectoral engagement around defined issues
Broad sector Illustrative examples of priority issues

Energy and utilities Apprenticeships

Higher level technical skills

Engineering and manufacturing Apprenticeships

Learning facilities

Higher level technical skills

Construction Apprenticeships

Learning facilities

Higher level technical skills

Recruitment

Retail Upskilling / reskilling

Digital

Hospitality Upskilling / reskilling

Professional / financial services Digital (incl. bootcamps)

Financial services Attracting / retaining talent

Digital (incl. bootcamps)

Transport and logistics Recruitment

Digital

Health Workforce planning

Higher level technical skills (e.g. degree apprenticeships)

Care Recruitment

Higher / degree apprenticeships

Arts and entertainment Upskilling / reskilling

77



Objectives and actions

78



Quality technical education

• Apprenticeships / technical education key to addressing 

employer skills needs and providing sustainable careers

• Those completing an apprenticeship at level 4 or above earn £150,000 more on average 

over their lifetime

• Disadvantaged less likely to access apprenticeships

• 10% of pupils go into an apprenticeship after KS5 but only 8% of FSM pupils

• Technical education take-up disrupted by COVID-19

• Apprenticeship starts down by 21% in 2019/20 but down by 50% in final quarter of 

academic year

• Levy is key source of apprenticeship funding

• 60% of starts in 2019/20 were levy funded and proportion is growing 

Evidence

79



Quality technical education

• Support individuals to take up technical qualifications 

and access high quality work placements

• Increase the number of learning opportunities to take up 

technical education as a route to a rewarding career

• Work with employers to maximise apprenticeship levy 

investment in West Yorkshire

Objectives

80



Great education connected to business

• Work experience / inspiration opportunities still limited
• A minority of local employers offer work experience and work inspiration opportunities 

– 36% and 11% respectively; 18% offer placements to school pupils, 14% to college 

students.

• Access to workplace constrained by COVID-19
• Major challenge in connecting students with workplace

• Attainment of young people is low in West Yorkshire
• 78% of young people in WY achieve level 2 by age of 19 compared with 83% 

nationally; for level 3, figures are 52% and 60%. 

• Deprivation / disadvantage impacts on career outcomes.
• Disadvantaged pupils less likely to achieve academically and they have poorer career 

outcomes in terms of entering a sustained positive destination when leaving 

education

Evidence

81



• Ensure careers information takes account of local labour 

market information to supported informed decision making and 

supports lifelong learning

• Enable equal participation in the take up of careers educations 

for people of all ages, backgrounds, and career stage to 

support personal ambitions

• Embed careers support and career management into key 

transition points in life

• Increase the number of employers providing experiences of the 

workplace and work placements

Great education connected to busines

Objectives

82



Accessing and progressing in good work

• Sharp increase in unemployment as a result of COVID-19
• Claimant unemployment has doubled locally – more than 100,000 claiming jobless benefits 

in West Yorks with potential for this figure to grow further. 

• Many people locked into low-paid work - low skills hamper 

career prospects
• A fifth of jobs in city region pay less than the Real Living Wage

• Evidence of demand from individuals for re-skilling as a 

result of COVID-19
• According to You Gov polling, 26% are likely to retrain in another sector in the near future

• Significant national resources are being targeted on 

reskilling.
• £375m investment in National Skills Fund, including Skills Bootcamps and Lifetime Skills 

Guarantee

Evidence

83



• Support the unemployed to gain and sustain employment

• Unlock progression opportunities and career adaptability through 

skills, particularly for those on low wages and with insecure work

• Support people from all backgrounds to access self-employment 

opportunities and explore opportunities for new business start-ups

• Coordinate and provide access to training, work placements and job 

matching for unemployed with SMEs

• Improve West Yorkshire’s resilience by identifying and delivering the 

skills needed for the future

Objectives

Accessing and progressing in good work

84



Creating a culture of investment in 

workforce skills

• Employers acknowledge that they under-invest in skills
• Around two-fifths of employers would like to invest more in training – but face barriers 

in terms of cost and time.

• Widespread skills gaps among managers
• A fifth of employers with skills gaps say management staff are affected.

• Minority of local businesses have a skills plan
• Only 36% have training plan and 29% a training budget

• Digital skills gaps a key issue for business
• Around a third of medium-sized businesses say they need to improve basic digital 

skills to meet business objectives.

• Access to training is unequal.
• Workers who are already qualified to a high level (level 4+) are almost twice as likely 

to receive training than their less qualified colleagues.

Evidence

85



Creating a culture of investment in 

workforce skills

• Focus investment in and development of technical training 

facilities to ensure future needs of employers, individuals 

and the wider economy are met

• Increase leadership and management skills for improved 

skills utilisation in the workplace

• Encourage employers to invest and have a workforce 

skills plan in place to drive productivity and innovation for 

staff at all levels

Objectives

86



Creating a culture of investment in 

workforce skills

• Develop innovation and enterprise skills in the workplace 

to boost productivity and economic growth

• Increase digital enterprise by helping small businesses 

and charities upskill their employees and increase their 

digital capabilities so they can take advantage of the 

productivity gains that technology provides

• Increase the number of people in work with basic skills, 

including digital

Objectives

87



Driving innovation and productivity through 

high level skills

To increase take up of 

STEM subjects at 

all levels to meet future 

demand, particularly on 

the clean growth agenda

Evidence

• Weak local performance on innovation and productivity
• Output per hour worked only 85% of national average, R&D spend in Yorkshire and 

Humber lowest in country 

• Local deficit of higher-level skills / qualifications
• 33% of labour force of West Yorks are qualified to level 4+ compared with national 

average of 40% - this equates to 100,000 people in real terms.

• Disadvantaged less likely to access higher level skills
• 41% of all pupils go into HE in West Yorks but for FSM pupils it’s only 24%. 

• Deficit of higher-level jobs – especially STEM
• 47% of people in employment in WY in higher skilled roles compared with 50% nationally 

88



Driving innovation and productivity through 

high level skills

To increase take up of 

STEM subjects at 

all levels to meet future 

demand, particularly on 

the clean growth agenda

Objectives

• Attract talent to key areas of economic growth for WY, including health tech 

and transition to net zero economy and digital

• Increase take up of STEM subjects at all levels to meet future demand, 

particularly on the clean growth agenda

• Remove barriers and ensure equality of access so that learners progress 

towards higher levels learning

• Maximise collaboration with HEIs, FECs, training providers and employers to 

establish training needs and provision that supports higher level skills in areas 

of strength for WY and the North that supports job creation and safeguarding

• Continue to make the case to government for a regionally accountable and 

driven post-16  skills system

89



Strategic Economic Framework Indicators

Indicator title Description

% qualified at level 4 and 

above

% of population aged 16-64 with highest qualification at Level 4 

and above

% qualified below level 2
% of population aged 16-64 with highest qualification below level 2 

or no formal qualifications

Unemployment rate
Proportion of labour force who are unemployed and actively 

seeking and available for work

% of employees in quality 

work

% of employees who have good hours, a desired contract type, 

and are not in low pay

Apprenticeship starts Number of people starting an apprenticeship each academic year

Jobs paying below Real 

Living Wage

% of local jobs that pay below the Living Wage Foundation's Real 

Living Wage threshold

Employment rate gap for 

disadvantaged groups

Proportion of people in employment in disadvantaged groups 

(disabled, BAME, aged over-50) versus overall employment rate

NEETs Percentage of 16-17 year olds NEET or activity not known

90



Economic Recovery Plan Indicators

  Economic indicators Social indicators Environmental indicators 

Skills  

Relevant & 
transferable 
skills 

• Employment and pay gap for 
disadvantaged groups 

• Working age without 
qualifications 

• Skills shortages and gaps 

• Economic activity rate 

• Claimant unemployment count for 
deprived neighbourhoods 

• Access to skills development for 
disadvantaged groups 

• Social mobility (attainment at KS4 
by FSM eligibility and access to 
HE by social status) 

• Employers engaging with schools  

• Levels of digital exclusion   

• Access to net zero skills 
development for disadvantaged 
groups: apprenticeships, HE  

• Jobs in the clean growth sector 

• Attendance at green skills training 

  

Prevention of 
NEETs 

• Number of NEETs / post-
education destinations 

• 16-24 / 50+ unemployment  

• NEETs in disadvantaged groups 

• 16-24 / 50+ unemployed in 
disadvantaged groups 

  

Equal access 
to learning 

• Participation in employment and 
skills programmes   

• Participation in disadvantaged 
groups 

  

Strengthened 
skills offer 

• Vacancies (online job postings) –
level and occupational profile   

• Programme participation in 
demand / growth sectors 

• % with access to net zero / clean 
growth sector opportunities  

Skills 
utilisation 

• Prevalence of "flexible" 
employment modes  

• % qualified at L4+ or degree level 
employed in non-graduate roles  

• Variation across disadvantaged 
groups 

  

 

91



Themes

92



Digital skills

Why is this important for West Yorkshire?
West Yorkshire has a fast-growing digital sector which makes the 

development of digital skills for the population a key focus area to 

ensure we can support this growth and provide future employment 

opportunities into this sector. Digital skills also form a key part of 

modern-day life for everyone across West Yorkshire, where we are 

looking to create a fully inclusive society and provide opportunities for 

all. Yet over 25% of the population do not have basic digital skills for life, 

therefore are being excluded and will struggle to gain employment. 

Providing opportunities for all to develop their digital skills will enhance 

their inclusivity and their employability and support growth across the 

region's economy and enhance business productivity and allow West 

Yorkshire to thrive as a region.

93



Digital skills

Who is this important for?
Important for all, but in particular for those from 

disadvantaged backgrounds such as low income, low 

education households, those with disabilities, those from 

BAME heritage those from older age group and those with 

English as a second language. Digital skill will also support 

those who are under or unemployed or are furloughed or at 

risk of redundancy and enhance everyone's chances of 

future employment.it will also provide support to the thriving 

digital sector and those growth businesses adopting digital 

skills by providing a skilled workforce to support future 

growth.

94



Digital skills

What are we already doing?
We have recently launched the Local Digital Skills 

Partnership to work with key partners both regionally and 

nationally across all sectors to support the growth of digital 

skills and coordinate provision in the region. Programs such 

as future goals and re-boot are already in place to support 

sections of those in need, and 100% digital Leeds is also 

enabling digital skills provision. In addition, AEB and the 

coming digital entitlement will support provision to those in 

need. There are also business support programs being 

provided to those businesses most in need to evolve their 

digital skills and support their sustainability and growth 

through the pandemic.

95



Digital skills

What more could we do?
Provision is often disjointed, not easy to navigate, nor uses 

routes that all can engage through, so we must look at 

broadening provision of skills provision from L1 through to 

L5 and beyond and ensure that it is available to all, utilising

diverse routes to deliver and therefore providing 

opportunities for all to grow their skills, to become more 

included in mainstream society and move towards 

employment. We can also look to understand the needs of 

employers more and work closely to provide reskilling and 

upskilling programs to those at risk of redundancy to 

support future growth, but also to build engagement with 

education to ensure work ready students are being provided 

to match business needs.

96



Green workforce

Why is this important for West Yorkshire?
Skilled workers are required to deliver against to deliver against immediate and 

longer-term challenges, in order to support the Combined Authority's ambition for a 

net zero carbon economy. The Government’s Green Jobs Taskforce has committed 

to creating 2 million green jobs nationally by 2050, suggesting that approximately 
100,000 will be required in West Yorkshire in the same timeframe.

An alternative analysis by Ecuity for the Local Government Association suggests 

the creation of approximately 71,000 new clean growth jobs in West Yorkshire –

potentially more than any other area in England. The study estimates that 40,000 of 

these will be required by 2030, with the largest need in the alternative fuels industry 
sector (17,291 jobs).

The recent Scaling Up Better Homes Yorkshire report 

suggests that, in domestic retrofits alone, 30,000 jobs will be required in West 

Yorkshire by 2028, with 5,000 by 2024. The same report provides the evidence on 

construction trades and roles needed to deliver retrofits, yet it remains unclear 
where the pipeline of skilled workers will come from.

97



Green workforce

Who is this important for?
All, but particularly:

• individuals at risk of unemployment as a result of decarbonisation, or 

looking to re-train

• business owners requiring support to upskill and re-train staff as part of 

the transition

• young people to ensure a strong and diverse future talent pipeline

• employers and training providers in strengthening their collaboration and 

engagement to improve and expand training programmes.

What are we already doing?
The Employment and Skills Panel have convened interested parties in a 

roundtable forum of employers and skills providers to share intelligence 

and review the actions required in West Yorkshire

98



Green workforce

What more could we do?
• Establish peer networks to enable the sharing of best practice wit

hin sectors and/or areas

• Coordinate a programme of careers and inspiration activities with 

employers to raise awareness of the importance of STEM skills 

and to address the future demand for green jobs. A lack of 

diversity is recognised, as shown in the National Grid’s 

Building the Net Zero Energy Workforce report; to offset the 

gender stereotypes embedded by the age of 7 this activity would 

be for Early Years, primary and secondary-aged students and 

their parents, carers, and teachers.

• Strengthen collaboration and engagement between employers 

and training providers to improve and expand their training 

programmes.

99



Green workforce

What more could we do?
• Undertake skills audits with SMEs and training providers to 

establish need and opportunity for behaviour change

• Explore opportunities for supply chains that are not necessarily 

in the ‘green market’ to share their green credentials.

• Bursaries or incentivised training for individuals to undertake 

retraining opportunities

• Establish an internship programme, connecting skilled interns / 

students with organisations development low-carbon 

technologies

100



Inclusive growth

The City Region is below 

average in both basic and 

higher-level skills, and a 

quarter of jobs across the 

City Region pay less than 

the Real Living Wage. 

Under-investment in 

training and development 

over the years has 

affected living standards 

and makes it hard for 

many people to find a 

route to higher-quality 

work.

Why is this important for West Yorkshire?

101



Inclusive growth

Who is this important for?
All, including:

• The 950,000 people live in areas considered to be the most 

deprived in the UK

• Individuals working in 24% of local jobs which pay less than 

the Living Wage Foundation’s Living Wage rate

• Black, Asian and minority ethnicities, for whom the 

employment rate lags behind the national average

• People without essential digital skills

• Individuals aged 16-64 whose highest qualification is below 

level 2, or who have no formal qualifications

102



Inclusive growth

What are we already doing?
• Continued delivery of [re]boot to support those who are employed, 

furloughed or facing redundancy to re-train.

• Continued delivery of the Employment Hub, providing careers support 

and a job matching service.

• The Enterprise Adviser Network (EAN) works with 185 secondary 

schools and colleges to improve the destinations of young people 

• Careers Hubs provide enhanced and targeted activity in Bradford and 

Kirklees, as well with institutions with high numbers of SEND pupils

• The Raising Aspirations pilot fund has created employer co-designed 

provision targeted at students from disadvantaged backgrounds

• The Skills for Growth programme enables small and medium 

enterprises to access education providers in a simple one-stop 

approach with localised delivery.

103



Inclusive growth

What more could we do?
• Support people from all backgrounds to access self-

employment opportunities and explore opportunities for new 

business start-ups

• Coordinate and provide access to training, work placements 

and job matching for unemployed with SMEs

• Remove barriers and ensure equality of access so that 

learners progress towards higher levels learning

• Enable equal participation in the take up of careers 

educations for people of all ages, backgrounds, and career 

stage to support personal ambitions

• Increase the number of employers providing experiences of 

the workplace and work placements

104



 

 

Report to: Employment and Skills Panel 

Date:   23 February 2021 

Subject:   Employment and Skills Programmes 

Director: Brian Archer, Director of Economic Services 

Author: Catherine Lunn, Head of Employment and Skills 

 

 
1. Purpose of this report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Panel on the progress of 

delivery of LEP-led employment and skills programmes in the Leeds 
City Region and how they have been adapted to support COVID-19. 

 
2. Information 
 

Apprenticeships and Employment 
 
2.1 As part of the Combined Authority response to COVID-19 we continue 

to operate the repurposed Employment Hubs. This model provides a 
‘one stop shop’ for job seekers of any age and for employers recruiting 
or making redundancies. As at 29 January, we have supported 602 
individuals and 114 businesses (59 of these business enquiries were 
regarding the Kickstart scheme), which were referred to our 
Employment Hub programme delivery partners for support. Support and 
progression will be dependent on any additional lockdown measures.  
The repurposed element of Hub programme is being continued with the 
support of part of a £13.5m Strategic Investment Funding COVID-19 
employment and skills package from the Combined Authority.  
Discussions are ongoing with delivery partners (local authorities) around 
how the funding will be utilise to enhance their resources to offer 
support to an increasing number of individuals who are unemployed, 
furloughed, at risk of redundancy or seeking alternative 
employment/career routes to access training/retraining and employment 
support. 
 

2.2 The main ESF Employment Hub programme reports on a quarterly 
basis and therefore quarterly figures for end of 2020 were not available 
at the time of writing the report but will be reported at the next meeting.  

105

Agenda Item 12



 
2.3 Interest in the Apprenticeship Levy Transfer Service from pledging 

Employers continues to grow as the service develops. Businesses realise the 
contribution they can make to the economic recovery with over £1.3 million 
pledged to date which is being allocated against available Apprenticeship 
opportunities. 
 

2.4 Levy transfers mean that apprenticeship training fees will be covered 100% 
by the transferring company. Apprenticeship starts are low in this current 
climate, we anticipate that many businesses will begin taking on apprentices 
again from Spring 2021 subject to lockdown restrictions. 

 
School Partnerships 

 
2.5 Our Enterprise Coordinators have completed a successful first term, working 

virtually with schools in the Enterprise Advisor Network. Engagement is 
high and action planning carried out with members; focusing on improving 
and/or achieving specific career outcomes and positive impacts on young 
people. This includes our The Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Careers Hub (SEND) and Bradford Opportunity area. The team have 
coordinated 17 events/ workshops – key ones included SEND alumni 
training with the University of Derby, our first Regional CEIAG delivered with 
over 60 delegates attending and EAN workshops.  
 

2.6 Raising Aspirations project changes are now formally agreed (Business 
Rates Pool funded) with grant variation letters issued, extending the outcome 
end date to July 31 2021.  

 
2.7 The Kirklees Careers Hub has successfully launched the new Parental 

Resources in November. The aim of these is to inform, educate and 
empower those that influence young people when at the crucial decision-
making age for pathways beyond year 11. Promotion on social media 
across Leeds City Region, has already reached over 38,500 people. 
 

Careers 
 
2.8 As part of the investment from the Burberry Foundation, the careers team 

are developing an interactive next steps toolkit that will be hosted on the 
FutureGoals website. Due to the pandemic access to careers support has 
been limited in schools and colleges. The aim of the toolkit is to support 
young people to understand their options and help ease anxiety about the 
uncertainty of their future. The toolkit will signpost young people to local and 
national support, provide resources and tools to empower and prepare them 
for the world of work, higher education or Apprenticeships. The resources 
will be launched in National Careers Week at the beginning of March. 

 
2.9 To help our stakeholders and partners understand and make better use the 

labour market report, we are developing an interactive platform that will 
enhance the FutureGoals website. The platform will utilise information from 
the report and create accessible, interactive information for stakeholders. 

106



The resource will increase usability of the information and make it easy for 
stakeholders to access relevant information and align their work to the report 
findings. The resource will be launched at the end of March 2021. 

 
2.10 The FutureGoals virtual work experience project will launch in March with 

the first of 4 resources featuring key sectors: creative and digital, 
manufacturing and engineering, construction, and health tech. The resource 
is aimed at students in year 10 and 11 (15 and 16 years old) who are unable 
to access work experience opportunities due to the pandemic.  

 
Adult Training 

 
2.11 Following a successful bid in October 2020, the CA were awarded 

£1.3million from Department for Education (DfE) to act as lead partner 
and deliver a Digital and Technical Skills Bootcamp Pilot. Insights will 
help inform the development of the National Skills Fund offer and identify 
programmes to support the achievement of our COVID-19 recovery plan 
aims. 

 
2.12 The pilot went live in January 2021 and will run until March 2021, it will engage 

with 600 learners during this time. There are 4 delivery partners delivering 
the training element of the pilot. There are ten bootcamps being delivered that 
have been influenced by employers and will test delivery models in a small, 
directed way to develop innovative and highly responsive courses that link 
directly to local digital and technical skills needs. Guaranteed interviews will be 
aligned to potential job outcomes for participants. Provision is not bound by 
existing accreditation and has the flexibility to meet needs of employers 
directly, building on the success of existing programmes and relationships. 

 
2.13 The bootcamps support individuals from disadvantaged groups such as BAME, 

women and those unemployed due to COVID-19 or those looking to upskill. 
They create an opportunity to develop innovative and responsive adult training 
that addresses the needs of unemployed adults and those who need additional 
skills to progress in their current employment. 

 
Reboot 

 
2.14 The Combined Authority’s adult re-training programme, [re]boot, is part-

funded through European Social Fund (ESF) and gives adults the chance to 
upskill, gain new skills/qualifications and improve their employment options 
particularly within key regional sectors, focused on construction, digital, 
manufacturing and engineering and the fast-growing creative sector. Since its 
launch in November 2019, the programme has supported over 450 
individuals to upskill.   

 
2.15 COVID restrictions continue to impinge on face-to-face training. Tougher 

restrictions have resulted in the closure of colleges and training centres. 
This will halt the hands- on, practical courses such as the Hybrid Vehicle, 
and some construction training. Other courses that migrated online are 
continuing at a good pace with Level 3 courses proving most popular with 

107



learners. 
 

2.16 The [re]boot courses and content are accessed on the FutureGoals website. 
In December [re]boot careers changers page received 1,117 page views; 
12.66% of all website traffic. 
 

2.17 Through support of part of a £13.5m Strategic Investment Funding COVID-
19 employment and skills package from the Combined Authority and 
bidding to other external funding programmes the Combined Authorities 
adult training offer will be expanded and extended (see Paper 6).    

 

Delivery Agreements 
 

2.18 Delivery agreement reports have been finalised for our 7 colleges for 
performance in 2018/19 and will be accessible on the Combined Authority 
website in March.  New Delivery Agreements will be negotiated in 2021/22. 

 

Skills for Business 
 

2.19 The Skills for Growth programme has engaged 36 businesses in the first 
quarter of the programme. Each business has completed an Education 
Engagement Plan which outlines how they would like to engage with skills 
provision and education in the region. Business Partnership Advisers are 
working closely with each business to support them to link with education, 
particularly Higher Education, to address skills gaps and recruitment needs. 
Businesses are also being referred to other support programmes, for 
example, the Employment Hub, the LEP Growth Service, and the Enterprise 
Adviser Network, to provide bespoke support based on businesses’ 
immediate and long-term needs. 

 
2.20 The Skills for Growth Steering group has been formed with representatives 

from local authorities and GHWY. The first meeting was held in January and 
will take place each quarter. The group will provide advice and guidance on 
barriers and opportunities to engagement. This will include current lockdown 
concerns for businesses and potential lack of uptake in the programme. 

 
2.21 Skills for Growth team are working with the West Yorkshire Consortium of 

Colleges (WYCC) to engage businesses with their High Performing 
Workplaces Programme. The programme includes export and innovation 
training which is relevant the Combined Authority EU Transition work. 

 
2.22 We are currently discussing with Combined Authority Leaders re funding for 

an Entrepreneurship package, as part of the Economic Recovery Plan, to 
meet current gaps in provision and address inequalities. This includes a 
community based entrepreneurial development programme to promote self-
employment as a careers choice and provide prestart-up support.  

 
3. Tackling the Climate Emergency Implications  
 
3.1 There are no climate emergency implications directly arising from this report. 
 

108



4. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
4.1     There are no inclusive growth implications directly arising from this report. 
 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report. 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report. 
 
7. Staffing Implications 
 
7.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report. 
 
8. External Consultees 
 
8.1 No external consultations have been undertaken. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The Panel is asked to note and comment on the progress of delivery of 

employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region. 
 
10. Background Documents 
  

None. 
 
11. Appendices 
 
11.1 None  
 
 
 
 

109



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Employment and Skills Panel held on 25 November 2020
	6 Economic Recovery and Response
	Item 6 App A - Adult Training

	7 Devolved Programmes Update
	8 L3 Entitlements /Lifetime Skills Guarantee
	9 FE Reform `Skills for Jobs`
	Item 9 - Appendix 1 - Skills for Jobs - Mindmap from Northern Skills Network
	FE White Paper.vsdx
	Page-1


	Item 9 - Appendix 2 - Skills for Jobs - FE White Paper - WYN Learning Provider Response
	Item 9 -  Appendix 3 - Response by Yorkshire Universities to the Skills for Jobs White Paper
	Item 9 - Appendix 4 - AoC Response to FE White Paper

	10 Local Skills Report
	11 Employment and Skills Plan Refresh
	Item 11 - Appendix 1 - Employment and Skills Plan Refresh

	12 Employment and Skills Programmes

